

In the Environment Court of New Zealand  
Christchurch Registry

I Mua I Te Kōti Taiao O Aotearoa  
Ōtautahi Rohe

**ENV-2024-**

Under the Resource Management Act 1991 (**RMA**)

In the matter of an appeal under clause 14 of Schedule 1 of the RMA in relation  
to the non-freshwater parts of the Proposed Otago Regional  
Policy Statement 2021

Between **Real Group Limited**

Appellant

And **Otago Regional Council**

Respondent

---

**Notice of Appeal on behalf of Real Group Limited**

14 May 2024

---

**Appellant's solicitors:**

Maree Baker-Galloway | Laura McLaughlan  
Anderson Lloyd  
Level 2, 13 Camp Street, Queenstown 9300  
PO Box 201, Queenstown 9348

p + 64 3 450 0700  
maree.baker-galloway@al.nz | laura.mclaughlan@al.nz

**anderson  
lloyd.**

**To:** The Registrar  
  
Environment Court  
  
Christchurch

- 1 Real Group Limited (formally, Wayfare Group Limited) (**Realnz** or **Appellant**) appeals against part of the decision of the Otago Regional Council (**ORC** or **Respondent**) on the non-freshwater parts of the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021 (**PORPS**) (**Decision**).
- 2 The Appellant made submission #0411 on the PORPS.
- 3 The Appellant is not a trade competitor for purposes of section 308D of the RMA.
- 4 The Appellant received notice of the Decision on 28 March 2024.
- 5 The Decision was made by the Respondent.

#### **Part of the Decision being appealed**

- 6 The parts of the Decision that the Appellant is appealing against are in respect of NFL-P1 and NFL-P2.

#### **Reasons for the Appeal**

##### *Identification of outstanding natural features and landscapes – NFL-P1*

- 7 The version of policy NFL-P1 notified on 26 June 2021 was:

NFL-P1 – Identification In order to manage outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes, identify:

(1) the areas and values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes in accordance with APP9, and

(2) the capacity of those natural features and landscapes to accommodate use or development while protecting the values that contribute to the natural feature and landscape being considered outstanding or highly valued.
- 8 Several submitters, including the Appellant, generally supported NFL-P1 as notified including its reference to and reliance on the criteria in APP9, but sought additional changes to ensure appropriate consultation with Kai Tahu, communities and stakeholders including landowners in the process

of identification of important values, and the capacity of landscapes to absorb appropriate development.

- 9 The section 42A report carefully considered whether or not NFL-P1 should refer to current best practice guidelines, namely the NZILA 2021 publication of *Te Tangi o te Manu*, and recommended that such reference **not** be explicitly incorporated.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly the version of NFL-P1 recommended by the section 42A report read as follows, with black tracking the s42A report original recommendation, and red arising from the section 42A report supplementary evidence:

#### NFL-P1 – Identification

In order to manage outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* outside the coastal environment,<sup>1358</sup> identify:

- (1) the areas and values of outstanding and *highly valued natural features and landscapes* in accordance with APP9, and
- (2) the capacity of those natural features and landscapes to ~~accommodate~~ absorb<sup>1359</sup> use or development while protecting the values that contribute to the natural feature and landscape being considered outstanding or maintaining the values that contribute to the natural feature and landscape being<sup>1360</sup> highly valued.

- 10 The Decision then materially altered NFL-P1 without any meaningful opportunity for parties to respond to the proposed change, to the following:

#### NFL-P1 – Identification

~~In order to manage~~ Identify the areas and values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes, identify:

- ~~(1) the areas and values of outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes in accordance with APP9~~ Te Tangi a te Manu, Aotearoa New Zealand Landscape Assessment Guidelines' Tuia Pito Ora New Zealand Institute of Landscape Architects, July 2022, and
- ~~(2) the capacity of those natural features and landscapes to accommodate use or development while protecting the values that contribute to the natural feature and landscape being considered outstanding or highly valued.~~

---

<sup>1</sup> <https://www.orc.govt.nz/media/12190/14-nfl-s42a-report-website.pdf>

- 11 The Appellant opposes the deletion of reference to APP9, and insertion of reference the guidelines, on the basis it is inappropriate to lock into the PORPS, which could conceivably have a 10 year life before review, reference to one published set of guidelines from 2021/2022, that could very well be amended and replaced as practices and consensus as to 'best practice' continue to evolve.
- 12 The reference to APP9 is considered more appropriate, as it is implicit that application of the APP9 to a particular landscape will be undertaken in accordance with current best practice, as is appropriate to the context of a particular place, and its community.
- 13 The Appellant therefore seeks retention of reference to APP9, and additional reference to the requirement to consult with Kai Tahu, communities and stakeholders in the process of identifying important values.

*Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes - NFL-P2*

- 14 The version of policy NFL-P2 notified on 26 June 2021 was:

NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes

Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes by:

(1) avoiding adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and

(2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects.

- 15 Several submissions, including that of the Appellant, opposed NFL-P2 on the basis that, in respect of the Queenstown Lakes District, the majority of the district is considered to be an Outstanding Natural Landscape or Feature (ONL/ONF) and use of the unqualified directive language sets an inappropriate high bar to any development or change. Submitters throughout Otago also opposed the directive language on similar grounds.
- 16 The section 42A report version of NFL-P2 made the following recommendations, with the black tracking showing amendments from the

initial Section 42A report recommendations, and the red changes showing additional amendments from supplementary evidence:<sup>2</sup>

**NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes**

Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes outside the coastal environment from inappropriate subdivision, use and development<sup>1361</sup> by:

- (1) avoiding adverse *effects* on the values of the natural features and landscapes where there is limited or no capacity to absorb ~~change use or development~~<sup>1362</sup> ~~that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, and~~
- (2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects*.
- (3) managing the adverse effects of infrastructure on the values of outstanding natural features and landscapes in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.<sup>1363</sup>

- 17 The above version was largely supported by the Appellant, in particular because the deletion of the words in NFL-P2 (1) was consistent with the relief sought in the Appellant's submission.
- 18 The version in the Decision reads as follows:

NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes

Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes from inappropriate subdivision, use and development by:

(1A) avoiding exceeding the landscape capacity of the natural feature or landscape.

(1) maintaining ~~avoiding adverse effects~~ on the values that contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered outstanding, even if those values are not themselves outstanding, ~~and~~

(2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse *effects*.; and

(3) managing the adverse effects of infrastructure on the values of outstanding natural features and landscapes in accordance with EIT-INF-P13.

- 19 There are no reasons provided in the Decision or in evidence for the reinsertion of the words in NFL-P2 (1) that were previously deleted.

---

<sup>2</sup> <https://www.orc.govt.nz/media/13895/2023-02-24-porps-supplementary-evidence-version.pdf>

- 20 The insertion of new NFL-P2 (1A) is opposed to the extent that there is no definition or explanation in the PORPS as to what 'landscape capacity' means, creating uncertainty.
- 21 The retention of the reference in NFL-P2 (1) to protecting values that themselves are not necessarily 'natural' or 'outstanding' is opposed, as it goes beyond the protection required by section 6 (b) of the RMA. NFL-P2 (1) is also opposed on the basis it only refers to values that contribute to a natural feature or landscape being 'outstanding' – it omits reference to the requirement that the natural feature or landscape must also be 'natural', to qualify for the protection directed by section 6 (b).

### Relief sought

- 22 The Appellant seeks the following relief:

- (a) Amend NFL-P1 as follows, or to similar effect:

#### NFL-P1 – Identification

Identify the areas and values of outstanding *natural features and landscapes* in accordance with APP9 Te Tangi a te Manu: Aotearoa New Zealand Landscape Assessment Guidelines, Tuia Pito Ora New Zealand Institute of Landscape Architects, July 2022, in consultation with Kai Tahu, communities and stakeholders including affected landowners.

- (b) Delete NFL-P2 (1A) or add an explanation into the PORPS as to what 'landscape capacity of the natural feature or landscape' is intended to mean in the PORPS context;
- (c) Amend NFL-P2 (1) as follows, or to similar effect:

(1) maintaining the values that make the contribute to the natural feature or landscape being considered natural and outstanding, ~~even if those values are not themselves outstanding,~~

- 23 The Appellant seeks any alternative, consequential, or necessary additional relief to that set out in this appeal to give effect to the matters raised generally in this appeal the Appellant's submission on this topic.

### Attachments

- 24 The following documents are **attached**:

- (a) **Appendix A** - a copy of the Appellant's submission;

- (b) **Appendix B** - a copy of the Decision;
- (c) **Appendix C** - a list of names and addresses of persons to be served with a copy of this notice.

Dated this 14<sup>th</sup> day of May 2024



Maree Baker-Galloway/Laura McLaughlan  
Counsel for the Appellant

### **Advice to recipients of copy of notice of appeal**

#### *How to become party to proceedings*

You may be a party to the appeal if you made a submission or a further submission on the matter of this appeal.

To become a party to the appeal, you must,—

- within 15 working days after the period for lodging a notice of appeal ends, lodge a notice of your wish to be a party to the proceedings (in form 33) with the Environment Court and serve copies of your notice on the relevant local authority and the appellant; and
- within 20 working days after the period for lodging a notice of appeal ends, serve copies of your notice on all other parties.

Your right to be a party to the proceedings in the court may be limited by the trade competition provisions in section 274(1) and Part 11A of the Act.

You may apply to the Environment Court under section 281 of the Act for a waiver of the above timing or service requirements (see form 38).

#### *Advice*

If you have any questions about this notice, contact the Environment Court in Auckland, Wellington, or Christchurch.

## **Appendix A – a copy of the Realnz submission**

**Written Submission on Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021**

**To: Otago Regional Council ([rps@orc.govt.nz](mailto:rps@orc.govt.nz))**

1. This is a submission by **Wayfare Group Limited (Wayfare)** on the Proposed Otago Regional Policy Statement 2021.
2. Wayfare:
  - a. Could not gain an advantage in trade competition through this submission.
  - b. Is directly affected by an effect of the subject matter of the submission that adversely affects the environment; and does not relate to trade competition or the effects of trade competition
  - c. Does wish to be heard in support of my submission
  - d. Will consider presenting a joint case with them at a hearing if others make a similar submission
3. Wayfare seek:
  - a. Amendments to all the provisions of the RPS in accordance with and in no way limited to the changes set out on the following pages;
  - b. Or alternatively other amendments, including any such combination of provisions as may be appropriate, to address the matters raised in this submission, and to achieve the intent of this submission.
  - c. Any similar, alternative, consequential and/or other relief as necessary to address the issues raised in this submission.
4. Reasons for this submission are provided throughout this document.
5. Fiona Black, Concessions & Consents Manager at Real Journeys Limited on this day 3 September 2021

**Address for service**

<i>Submitter Contact</i>	<i>Copy to</i>
Fiona Black <a href="mailto:fblack@realjourneys.co.nz">fblack@realjourneys.co.nz</a> 03 2499033 / 027 4912087 14 Captain Roberts Road, Te Anau 9600	Ben Farrell <a href="mailto:ben@cuee.nz">ben@cuee.nz</a> 021767622 / 034500034 PO Box 1922, Queenstown

## WAYFARE

1. Wayfare Group is the parent company of *Real Journeys*, *Cardrona Alpine Resort*, *Go Orange*, and the *International Antarctic Centre*. Wayfare owns or as interests in businesses and properties throughout the region including high country farmland, wharves and lakebed.
2. Originally founded in 1954 by tourism and conservation pioneers Les and Olive Hutchins, the Wayfare Group like the rest of the tourism sector has been heavily impacted by the fallout from COVID-19.
3. In the 2018-19 year Wayfare activities and services attracted about 1.6 million visitors. Wayfare employs over 1200 people (1600 pre COVID-19), some of whom are redeployed between summer and winter-based activities due to seasonable variability and improving staff retention.
4. Through the aforementioned companies Wayfare owns or operates regionally, nationally and internationally recognisable visitor activities and destinations, and has an interest in and will be affected by the policy directives in the Otago Regional Policy Statement. In this matter, Wayfare is particularly interested in and affected by any provision which promotes or restricts the ability of people to use and access natural and physical resources for the primary purpose of transport or the visitor industry, including ancillary commercial and industry services. These activities are centred on supporting people's wellbeing by transporting people to the natural environment for their use and appreciation of the natural environment (i.e. outdoor recreation).

### ***Real Journeys Limited***

5. *Real Journeys* is a tourism company based in the southern South Island which has been operating for over 66 years. In 1954 Les and Olive Hutchins began operating the Manapouri-Doubtful Sound Tourist Company, running four-day excursions which included a Lake Manapouri cruise, a trek over the Wilmot Pass to accommodation at Deep Cove, and a cruise on Doubtful Sound. In 1966 Les and Olive acquired Fiordland Travel Limited, with its Te Anau Glow-worm Caves and Milford Track Lake Transport operation and began trading as Fiordland Travel Limited. Ongoing expansion followed with the acquisition of the vintage steamship “TSS Earnslaw” in Queenstown in 1969 and with the establishment of cruises in Milford Sound in 1970. Since 2002 Fiordland Travel operated all of its tourism excursions under the ‘Real Journeys’ brand; in 2004 Stewart Island Experience was established; and in 2006 the company changed its name to Real Journeys Limited.
6. Conservation is part of Real Journeys heritage and a cornerstone of our business. For instance; every year (pre COVID-19) passengers contribute more than \$60,000 to the Leslie Hutchins Conservation Foundation via a passenger levy on our Doubtful Sound operations. Projects supported by the Leslie Hutchins Conservation Foundation include dolphin research, protection programmes for endangered birds, track and interpretation signage developments, outdoor education camps and wilding pine eradication. Real Journeys has also started work on this long-term project to remove predators from Cooper Island - the third largest island in Dusky Sound. The initiative sees Real Journeys join, the Department of Conservation’s Tamatea/Dusky Sound Restoration Programme; sharing its vision to make Dusky Sound one of the most intact ecosystems in the world.
7. In 2013 Real Journeys launched the Go Orange brand; purchased Cardrona Alpine Resort and the 155 hectare property at Walter Peak which Real Journeys previously leased for over two decades. This resort property located at the foot of Walter Peak on the edge of Lake Wakatipu, 13km from Queenstown. The property includes the Colonels Homestead, surrounding buildings and the newly constructed rural demonstration amphitheatre. This land holding has been a visitor destination for a very long time and has been zoned for resort development since the 1980s. Real Journeys uses this location to operate dining and farm experiences serviced by the vintage steamship the “TSS Earnslaw”. Then in 2015 Real Journeys purchased the International Antarctic Centre in Christchurch and in 2016 Real Journeys took over 100% ownership of Queenstown Rafting and purchased Kiwi Discovery which are now operated under the Go Orange brand. Real Journeys now has operational bases in Milford Sound, Te Anau, Manapouri, Queenstown, Bluff and Stewart Island and is the operator of the Go Orange Brand. The company offers a range of quality tourism excursions including multiday Discovery Expeditions around the southern fiords and Stewart Island; day time and overnight cruises on Milford Sound and Doubtful Sound (with daily coach connections from Te Anau and Queenstown); Te Anau Glow-worm Caves excursions; guided Milford Track Day-walks; Stewart Island ferries, accommodation on Stewart Island and tours including a partnership with Rakiura Māori Lands Trust to provide Kiwi spotting tours and the development of another walking opportunity at the Neck (Oneki); in Queenstown, cruises on Lake Wakatipu aboard the “TSS Earnslaw” combined with Walter Peak High Country Farm excursions and dining options at the Colonel’s Homestead.

### ***Cardrona Alpine Resort Limited (CARL)***

8. *Cardrona Alpine Resort* caters for the broadest range of ski/board related activities in New Zealand and is the premier resort for snow sports in Australasia. Cardrona Alpine Resort Limited employs around 1100 staff winter peak season, 150 staff summer peak season, and 100 off peak season. Cardrona Alpine Resort also owns the assets and holds the concessions to operate the ***Treble Cone ski field***. Cardrona Alpine Resort caters for guests of all abilities and disciplines making it the most diverse field in New Zealand. The resort is growing into a summer resort offering lift accessible mountain biking, gravity karts, walking and adventure trails and night-time sightseeing adventures. Cardrona Alpine Resort is focused on developing a year-round activity base for summer and winter operation offering year-round lift accessible terrain, on mountain accommodation, food and beverage service, retail, and mountain-based tourism activities. CARL also own and operate transport services to the ski fields from main centres and shuttle services from the base car parks up and down the mountain.
9. As a winter resort, Cardrona caters for all abilities with a focus on families and beginners. Facilities range from ski school to a Ministry of Education certified pre-school and child-care facilities. For the more advanced a "high performance centre" is provided which trains skiers and snowboarders, including top international skiers/snowboarders. Cardrona is regularly a venue for competitive ski and snowboard events and championships attracting competitors from around the globe. The operation of the Cardrona Alpine Resort relies on the ability to develop, operate, maintain and upgrade a considerable network of built infrastructure, primarily relating to the ski field, including a network of roads/trails, parking areas, buildings, energy generation, snow making, communication, accommodation, retail and cafe facilities. Recreation activities at the Cardrona Alpine Resort were historically carried out during the ski season. However, the resort lends itself to the provision of four-season tourism activities such as mountain biking, accommodation, tramping, sightseeing, and mountain adventure activities. Development of new buildings, supporting infrastructure, and land and some wetland modification, (earthworks and vegetation clearance) are required to operate, maintain, upgrade and grow the provision of outdoor recreation and other tourism services at the Cardrona Alpine Resort.

### ***Go Orange Brand***

10. ***Go Orange*** is a comprehensive outdoor recreation activity and passenger transport brand based in Queenstown, with offerings including jet boating, white water rafting, sightseeing, water taxis, cruises, and sea kayaking (including on Milford and Doubtful Sounds). Go Orange operates jet boating and white-water rafting on the iconic Lake Whataktipu Wai Maori and Shotover and Kawarau Rivers, day and multi-day sea kayaking expeditions in Fiordland, full-package hiking/walking on the 'great walks', and the Landsborough Wilderness Experience - a multi-day adventure tour incorporating a 3 day white water raft down the Landsborough River in South Westland.

Provision	Position	Reason(s)	Decision Sought
Entire RPS – new provisions sought	Oppose	<p>The pRPS fails to include recognition of and provision for people and communities' health and wellbeing, by not sufficiently recognising or providing for the benefits of transport and tourism activities and development, in particular activities centred on supporting people's wellbeing by transporting people to the natural environment so people can use and appreciate the natural environment.</p> <p>It should go without saying that people (residents and visitors) rely on access to and use of the natural environment to support their health (mental and physical) and cultural, social and economic wellbeing. Similarly, obviously that the health and wellbeing of communities including many local businesses benefit directly and indirectly from providing services associated with transporting and accommodating people to and within the natural environment so people can use and appreciate the natural environment.</p> <p>Like many transport, and nature/adventure based tourism companies, Wayfare owns and operates numerous transport and recreation related activities which support these well-beings. Wayfare, in particular, also contributes a lot to the enhancement and restoration of nature conservation and indigenous biodiversity restoration initiatives in the Otago and Southland regions.</p> <p>The failure to recognise and provide for activities which directly or indirectly support people's ability to connect with the natural environment, so people can use and appreciate the natural environment, undermines the above benefits and is contrary to the concept of sustainable management of Otago's natural and physical resources, because fundamentally these activities generally:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• are part of Otago's identity which the current generations of the region rely on; and</li> <li>• maintain, enhance or do not significantly compromise the health and wellbeing of the region's natural environment</li> <li>• do not undermine or threaten the well-being of future generations.</li> </ul>	<p>Insert new provisions which explicitly recognise, protect and promote the benefits of and provide for people's well-being, including the use of and access to the natural environment for transport, the visitor industry inclusive of commercial recreation, and ancillary commercial and industry services.</p> <p>This relief should flow through each level or place in the plan architecture, including for example:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• Description of the Region</li> <li>• Significant Resource Management Issues</li> <li>• Integrated Management</li> <li>• Domains</li> <li>• Topics, including Transport and Historical and Cultural Values, Natural Features and Landscapes, Urban Form and Development</li> </ul>

Provision	Position	Reason(s)	Decision Sought
Entire RPS – new provisions sought	Support	Unless otherwise discussed or affected by the reasons below the pRPS is supported.	Retain all provisions in the pRPS as notified except as discussed or affected by the reasons discussed and relief sought below.
Entire RPS – new provisions sought	Oppose	The pRPS fails to include any policy direction about how competing demands on water catchments should or will be managed. For example, if a waterbody is supporting agriculture / horticulture use, and someone seeks to plant a plantation forest to take water out of the catchment and compromise agriculture / horticulture how will this be dealt with. Wayfare owns and operates activities in the alpine environment (namely ski field areas) where access to water is constrained by natural elements and in the future could be further constrained by competing interests of other parties.	Insert new provisions or amend the current provisions to provide clearer policy direction about how competing interests for water take and use will be addressed.
Entire RPS – new provisions sought	Oppose	The pRPS fails to include clear direction about or provision for the need for people to repair flood protection devices and clean up after natural hazard events such as flooding. As floods and extreme weather events are likely to be more common in the future, with climate change, there is a need for people to be able to readily clear debris/slip movements out of waterbodies or adjoining land to allow the waterway to flow freely, prevent further flooding, and clean up mess on usable land.	Insert new provisions or amend the current provisions to provide clear policy direction that provides for the ability of people to clear debris/slip movements out of waterbodies or adjoining land.
Entire RPS – new provisions sought	Oppose	The pRPS fails to include clear direction about pest control (namely rabbits and possums) to maintain vegetation cover for intrinsic value of vegetation and erosion control, and to absorb greenhouse gases etc (for example as discussed in the document: <i>NATIVE HABITAT CARBON IN CRISIS: It's time to protect our Natural Ecosystem Carbon Sinks</i> , published by Forest & Bird: <a href="https://www.forestandbird.org.nz/sites/default/files/2021-06/Native%20Habitat%20Carbon%20in%20Crisis%20Report%20v2.pdf">https://www.forestandbird.org.nz/sites/default/files/2021-06/Native%20Habitat%20Carbon%20in%20Crisis%20Report%20v2.pdf</a> )	Insert new provisions or amend the current provisions to provide clear policy direction about pest control (namely rabbits and possums <u>[i.e. browsing mammalian pest species]</u> ) to maintain and enhance vegetation cover.
All Explanation, Reasons, and AER sections	Oppose	All Explanation, Reasons, and AER provisions unnecessarily lengthen and potentially confuse (not assist) the provisions they are referring to.	Delete all AER provisions. If the AER provisions are to be retained then it is sought that they be amended (where relevant) to align with the relief sought in this submission.

Provision	Position	Reason(s)	Decision Sought
Entire RPS	Oppose	<p>There are numerous vague terms in the pRPS document, for example as listed below:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• Significant</li> <li>• Sustainable / sustainable development / sustained</li> <li>• Environmental limit</li> <li>• Bottom line</li> <li>• Environments</li> <li>• Statements including or like “important features and values identified by this RPS”</li> </ul> <p>These words lack practical or effective meaning and therefore will create uncertainty when applied in practice. Every word in every objective, policy, method, or AER should be clear and explicit about what it means.</p> <p>In respect of environmental limits, the RPS is unclear on what environmental limits are actually being referred to – for example do they refer to limits on landscape and amenity values? Limits should only apply to the natural environment (for example relate to biophysical attributes, and possibly MW matters).</p>	Replace these words with other words which have a practical or clearer/explicit meaning.
Entire RPS	Oppose	There are numerous references to the term “possible”. However, this term is an extremely stringent and potentially unrealistic test to meet.	Delete term “possible” from the pRPS. Replace with clearer achievable or more practicable direction, or alternatively replace with “practicable”.
Entire RPS	Oppose	There are numerous references to “ <b>outstanding natural features or landscapes</b> ” and “ <b>highly valued natural features or landscapes</b> ”. For clarify, these provisions should be amended to include the word “ <i>natural</i> ” before landscapes, because it is the “outstanding natural” landscapes which are to be protected from inappropriate development (under RMA 6b) and presumably the highly valued “natural” landscapes to be maintained (under RMA 7c and 7f).	Insert “natural” before landscape every time there is reference to “outstanding natural features or landscapes” and “highly valued natural features or landscapes”.

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
Description of the Region	Oppose	Tourism has a significant positive impact on the economy.	... Tourism <del>has</del> also <del>has</del> a significant impact on the regional economy, contributing about a quarter of the region's total gross domestic product...
Coast	Oppose	Fix typos and clarify what is meant by commercial fishing "ramps", shouldn't this be "commercial fleet"	The Otago coastline stretches for 480 km and is extremely diverse, encompassing pebble and sandy beaches, basalt formations, dune systems, eelgrass and saltmarshes, estuaries, rolling downlands, and striking cliff heads. Significant coastal settlements include Dunedin and Oamaru, with the Otago port based in Port Chalmers. Otago <del>Harber</del> Harbour is the region's only commercial freight handling <del>harber</del> harbour, however commercial fishing <del>ramps-fleet</del> are present in <u>Careys Bay</u> , Oamaru, Moeraki, Karitane, and Taieri Mouth. Coastal erosion and the decline of the regional coastline is well documented, posing a long-term threat to residential and commercial coastal developments.
Waterbodies	Oppose	The description understates the amount and importance of unmodified natural environment throughout Otago.	Otago's landscapes are diverse. Moving inland from Otago's diverse and varied coastline, the landscapes change dramatically. Rolling plains separated by mountain ranges, steep hillsides of tussock, and deep gorges make up a lot of South and Central Otago. This <i>land</i> is dissected by flowing bodies of water, towering mountainscapes, and fascinating geological formations. Modified landscapes encompassing farmland and remnants of the region's early gold mining activity are ever-present, creating a rich sense of heritage and regional identity. <u>There is a tremendous amount of unmodified land in our National Parks and other Public Conservation Land Parks.</u>
Urban form	Oppose		Urbanised areas in Otago occupy only about 1% of total <i>land</i> area, however 87% of people live in urban settlements. Dunedin is Otago's largest urban area, surrounded by hills and <del>harber</del> harbour, and has a large suburban area and commuter catchment especially to the south, with more recent expansion moving out to connect with an expanding Mosgiel. The Queenstown Lakes District population is approximately 91% urban. Its outstanding landscape has <del>historically-determined</del> , and will continue to <u>influence urban growth</u> <del>determine, how urban form develops.</del>
Definitions minimise	– Oppose	The term minimise is used in the pRPS but it is not defined.	Insert definition for "minimise", as below: <u>Reduce to the smallest amount reasonably practicable. Minimised, minimising and minimisation have the corresponding meaning.</u>
Definitions natural environment	– Oppose	The term natural environment is used in the pRPS but it is not defined.	Insert definition of "natural environment", as follows: <u>Means (a) land, water, air, soil, minerals, energy, and all forms of plants, animals, and other living organisms (whether native to New Zealand or introduced) and their habitats; and (b) ecosystems and their constituent parts.</u>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
Definitions – pests	Oppose		Insert definition of “pests” as described in the Regional Pest Management Plan
Definitions – resilient or resilience	Oppose	No need for “quick” recovery	<b>Resilient or resilience</b> Means the capacity and ability to withstand or recover <del>quickly</del> from adverse conditions.
Definitions – rural industry	Oppose	The term rural industry is term is used in the RPS provisions but is not defined. The term should be defined. The first definition provided is drawn on the definition in the QLDC PDP, while the second definition is from the National Planning Standards.	Insert definition of <b>Rural Industry</b> , like the following:  <u>Means the use of land and buildings for the purpose of manufacturing, fabricating, processing, packing and/or storage of goods and materials grown or sourced outside the urban environment and the storage of goods, materials and machinery associated with commercial contracting undertaken outside the urban environment.</u>  OR  <u>Means an industry or business undertaken in a rural environment that directly supports, services, or is dependent on primary production.</u>
Definitions – ski field infrastructure	Oppose	Infrastructure associated with accessing and using the Cardrona Alpine Resort, Coronet Peak Ski field, The Remarkables Ski field, and the Treble Cone Ski field is regionally and nationally significant and therefore should be specified as such. Means of achieving this is to define “Ski Area Infrastructure” and list Ski Area Infrastructure in the definition of Regionally Significant Infrastructure.	<b><u>Ski Area Infrastructure</u></b> <u>Means infrastructure associated with the construction, operation, maintenance, upgrading, or expansion of the following existing ski areas:</u>  <u>(a) Cardrona Alpine Resort</u> <u>(b) Coronet Peak</u> <u>(c) Remarkables</u> <u>(d) Treble Cone</u>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
Definitions – rural area	Oppose	The definition of Rural area (“means any area of land that is not an urban area”) is not appropriate in the context of environmental or resource management of Otago where a lot of the non-urban environment is natural/unmodified. The term rural has a connotation of primary production activities (as reinforced by the definition of rural industry in the National Planning Standards. However, a lot of the non-urban area in Otago is unmodified natural environment, where primary production has not occurred and is not appropriate (but some activities and development, such as some visitor activities/services and outdoor recreation), are entirely appropriate.	Delete definition of <b>rural area</b> . Alternatively amend definition to exclude unmodified natural areas, and include a new definition for natural environment or similar.

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
Definitions regionally significant infrastructure	– Oppose	<p>Infrastructure associated with accessing and using the Cardrona Alpine Resort, Coronet Peak Ski field, The Remarkables Ski field, and the Treble Cone Ski field is regionally and nationally significant and therefore should be specified as such. Means of achieving this is to define “Ski Area Infrastructure” and list Ski Area Infrastructure in the definition of Regionally Significant Infrastructure (RSI).</p> <p>If Ski area infrastructure is not listed as RSI then the ability of these ski areas to operate and grow is unreasonably restricted by the NESFM regulations which do not provide an explicit consenting pathway for activities which may drain or partially drain, or otherwise modify, a natural inland wetland.</p>	<p><b>Regionally significant infrastructure</b> means:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) roads classified as being of regional importance in accordance with the One Network Road Classification,</li> <li>(2) electricity sub-transmission infrastructure,</li> <li>(3) renewable electricity generation facilities that connect with the local distribution network but not including renewable electricity generation facilities designed and operated principally for supplying a single premise or facility,</li> <li>(4) telecommunication and radiocommunication facilities,</li> <li>(5) facilities for public transport, including terminals and stations,</li> <li>(6) the following airports: Dunedin, Queenstown, Wanaka, Alexandra, Balclutha, Cromwell, Oamaru, Taieri.</li> <li>(7) navigation infrastructure associated with airports and commercial ports which are nationally or regionally significant,</li> <li>(8) defence facilities,</li> <li>(9) community drinking water abstraction, supply treatment and distribution infrastructure that provides no fewer than 25 households with drinking water for not less than 90 days each calendar year, and community water supply abstraction, treatment and distribution infrastructure (excluding delivery systems or infrastructure primarily deployed for the delivery of water for irrigation of land or rural agricultural drinking-water supplies)</li> <li>(10) community stormwater infrastructure,</li> <li>(11) wastewater and sewage collection, treatment and disposal infrastructure serving no fewer than 25 households, and</li> <li>(12) Otago Regional Council's hazard mitigation works including flood protection infrastructure and drainage schemes.</li> <li>(13) <u>Ski Area Infrastructure</u></li> </ol>
MW–O1 – Principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi	– Oppose	It is difficult to comprehend how parties other than government can give effect to Te Tiriti.	<p><b>MW–O1 – Principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi</b></p> <p>The principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi are given effect in resource management processes and decisions, utilising a partnership approach between councils and Papatipu Rūnaka to ensure that what is valued by <i>mana whenua</i> is actively <del>protected</del> <u>considered</u> in <u>decision-making</u> <del>the region</del>.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
IM-O3	Oppose	There is no need to refer to “environmental” when referring to sustainable. A sustainable impact is one that is inherently sustainable across the different domains of sustainability (ecologically, socially, economically).	<b>IM-O3 – <del>Environmentally s</del>Sustainable impact</b>
IM-P1	Oppose	The term “environmental constraint” is unclear. It is appropriate for activities to be carried out within limits of attributes of the natural environment.	<b>IM-P1 – Integrated approach</b> The objectives and policies in this RPS form an integrated package, in which: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) all activities are carried out within <del>limits of natural environmental attributes the environmental constraints of this RPS,</del></li> <li>(2) all provisions relevant to an issue or decision must be considered,</li> <li>(3) if multiple provisions are relevant, they must be considered together and applied according to the terms in which they are expressed, and</li> <li>(4) notwithstanding the above, all provisions must be interpreted and applied to achieve the integrated management objectives IM-O1 to IM-O4.</li> </ol>
IM-P2 – Decision priorities	Oppose	A “long-term” period creates uncertainty (unless it is defined which it is not) and the feasibility of “securing” a long term objective is questioned.	<b>IM-P2 – Decision priorities</b> Unless expressly stated otherwise, all decision making under this RPS shall <u>promote</u> : <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) firstly, <del>secure the long-term</del> life-supporting capacity and mauri of the natural environment,</li> <li>(2) secondly, promote the health needs of people, and</li> <li>(3) thirdly, safeguard the ability of people and communities to provide for their social, economic, and cultural well-being, now and in the future.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
IM-P4 – Setting a strategic approach to ecosystem health	Oppose	Use and development of resources can result in considerable benefits through ecological and conservation enhancement and restoration initiatives. There should be more emphasis and policy direction for supporting activities which will result in healthy ecosystems and ecosystem services are achieved.	<p><b>IM-P4 – Setting a strategic approach to ecosystem health</b></p> <p>Healthy ecosystems and ecosystem services are achieved through a planning framework that:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) protects their <i>intrinsic values</i>,</li> <li>(2) takes a long-term strategic approach that recognises changing <i>environments</i>,</li> <li>(3) recognises and provides for ecosystem complexity and interconnections, and</li> <li>(4) anticipates, or responds swiftly to, changes in activities, pressures, and trends.</li> </ol> <p><del>(4)</del>(5) <u>Promotes use and development of resources which support 1-3 above.</u></p>
IM-P9 – Community response to climate change impacts	Oppose	Climate change response will be a process – there is a need to continually adapt over time.	<p><b>IM-P9 – Community response to <i>climate change</i> impacts</b></p> <p>By 2030 Otago's communities have established <u>initial</u> responses for adapting to the impacts of <i>climate change</i>, are adjusting their lifestyles to follow them, and are reducing their <i>greenhouse gas</i> emissions to achieve net-zero carbon emissions by 2050.</p>
IM-P10 – <i>Climate change</i> adaptation and mitigation	Oppose	<p>The term “minimise” should be defined.</p> <p>Why “prioritise”? Prioritise against what. What does including “prioritise” actually mean?</p> <p>This policy should relate to “significant risk” and should also focus on “new zoned land” and new activities not anticipated in a plan.</p>	<p><b>IM-P10 – <i>Climate change</i> adaptation and mitigation</b></p> <p>Identify and implement <i>climate change</i> adaptation and mitigation methods for Otago that:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) minimise the <i>effects</i> of <i>climate change</i> processes or <i>risks</i> to existing activities,</li> <li>(2) <del>prioritise</del> avoiding the establishment of new activities in areas subject to <u>significant risk</u> from the <i>effects</i> of <i>climate change</i>, unless those activities reduce, or are resilient to, those <u>significant risks</u>, and</li> <li>(3) provide Otago's communities, including Kāi Tahu, with the best chance to thrive, even under the most extreme <i>climate change</i> scenarios.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
IM-P12 – Contravening environmental bottom lines for climate change mitigation	Oppose	<p>Acknowledging that Bottom line is referred to in the NPSFM, it could also apply to any other environmental bottom line. Consider changing to another term such as limit, or threshold.</p> <p>Either way, “bottom line” or an alternative term should be defined in the RPS to clarify which provisions (bottom lines) are being referred to.</p> <p>The term “smallest possible” is an extremely onerous and probably cost prohibitive test. Minimise could be more appropriate.</p> <p>Environmental impacts can be positive, and positive impacts should be encouraged not discouraged.</p> <p>Offsets and compensation is not always just about ecological matters.</p> <p>The Otago RPS should not require administrators of the RPS to implement RM documents applying to other regions – that will make application of this provision difficult and probably ultra vires.</p>	<p><b>IM-P12 – Contravening environmental <del>bottom-lines</del>limits for climate change mitigation</b></p> <p>Where a proposed activity provides or will provide enduring regionally or nationally significant mitigation of <i>climate change</i> impacts, with commensurate benefits for the well-being of people and communities and the wider <i>environment</i>, decision makers may, at their discretion, allow non- compliance with an environmental <del>limit</del> <del>bottom-line</del> set in any policy or method of this RPS only if they are satisfied that:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) the activity is designed and carried out to <del>minimise</del> <del>have the smallest possible</del> <u>adverse</u> environmental impact consistent with its purpose and <i>functional needs</i>,</li> <li>(2) the activity is consistent and coordinated with other regional and national <i>climate change</i> mitigation activities,</li> <li>(3) adverse <i>effects</i> on the <i>environment</i> that cannot be avoided, remedied, or mitigated are offset, <del>or</del> compensated for if an offset is not possible, in accordance with any specific criteria for using <del>offsets</del> or compensation, and ensuring that any offset <u>relating to ecological matters</u> is: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) undertaken where it will result in the best ecological outcome,</li> <li>(b) close to the location of the activity, and</li> <li>(c) within the same ecological district or coastal marine biogeographic region,</li> </ol> </li> <li>(4) the activity will not impede either the achievement of the objectives of this RPS <del>or the objectives of regional policy statements in neighbouring regions</del>, and</li> <li>(5) the activity will not contravene a <del>bottom-line</del> <u>natural environmental limit</u> set in a national policy statement or national environmental standard.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>IM-P13 – Managing cumulative effects</b>	Oppose	<p>The environment captures both natural and physical resources, but “resources” does not capture all of the “environment”. It makes sense to manage cumulative effects on the environment.</p> <p>The term accounting has a financial connotation. It would be better to refer to “addressing”.</p>	<p><b>IM-P13 – Managing cumulative effects</b></p> <p>Otago's environmental integrity, form, function, and <i>resilience</i>, and opportunities for future generations, are protected by recognising and specifically managing the cumulative effects of activities <u>on the environment</u> <del>natural and physical resources</del> in plans and explicitly <del>accounting for</del> <u>addressing</u> these effects in other resource <u>management</u> decisions.</p>
<b>IM-P14 – Human impact</b>	Oppose	<p>Opportunities for future generations will be preserved by operating within the limits of the natural environment, not other environmental limits as these are human centric significantly influenced by cultural conditions and individual/social perceptions, and readily change over time</p>	<p><b>IM-P14 – Human impact</b></p> <p>Preserve opportunities for future generations by:</p> <p>(1) identifying limits to both growth and adverse effects of human activities beyond which the <u>natural environment</u> will be degraded,</p>
<b>IM-P15 – Precautionary approach</b>	Oppose	<p>A precautionary approach should be taken when an activity operates (or is proposed to operate) in a degraded environment</p> <p>A degraded environment is where the application site or receiving environment is known to have an environmental value or condition below a desired threshold/limit/bottom line.</p>	<p><b>IM-P15 – Precautionary approach</b></p> <p>Adopt a precautionary approach towards proposed activities whose effects are uncertain, unknown or little understood, but could be significantly adverse, particularly where the areas and values within Otago <u>are in a degraded state or</u> have not been identified in plans as required by this RPS.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
IM-M1 – <i>Regional and district plans</i>	Oppose	<p>This method is unclear. What precisely is it requiring to be undertaken by 2030? Which climate change responses in this RPS are being referred to?</p> <p>The criteria in clause 4 will create an unreasonable cost and administrative burden on RM processes. Moreover, the criteria does not provide clear guidance that will actually deal with cumulative adverse effects, particularly where the existing environment is already degraded or where key values that should be protected (to manage cumulative effects) have not been identified.</p> <p>The environment(s) are integrated so there should be no direction to “treat” them as such. The policy should reinforce this understanding, as a matter of fact.</p>	<p><b>IM-M1 – <i>Regional and district plans</i></b></p> <p><i>Local authorities</i> must prepare or amend and maintain their <i>regional and district plans</i> to:</p> <p>(1) ...</p> <p>(2) ...</p> <p>(3) ...</p> <p>(4) ensure cumulative <i>effects</i> of activities on <del>the environment natural and physical resources</del> are <del>accounted</del> <u>addressed</u> for in resource management decisions by recognising and managing such <i>effects</i>, <u>including</u>:</p> <p><del>(5) the same effect occurring multiple times,</del></p> <p><del>(6) different effects occurring at the same time,</del></p> <p><del>(7) different effects occurring multiple times,</del></p> <p><del>(8) one effect leading to different effects occurring over time,</del></p> <p><del>(9) different effects occurring sequentially over time,</del></p> <p><del>(10) effects occurring in the same place,</del></p> <p><del>(11) effects occurring in different places,</del></p> <p><del>(12) effects that are spatially or temporally distant from their cause or causes, and,</del></p> <p><del>(13)</del> <u>(5)</u> more than minor cumulative effects resulting from minor or transitory effects,</p> <p><del>(14)</del> <u>(6)</u> adopt a ki uta ki tai approach to resource management by establishing policy and implementation frameworks that <del>treat</del> <u>reinforce</u> Otago’s <i>environments</i> as an integrated system, including <u>collaboration</u> between local authorities to achieve consistent management of resources or <i>effects</i> that cross jurisdictional boundaries, and</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>IM-M2 – Relationships</b>	Oppose	The term environmental has a broad meaning and captures social, cultural, and economic well beings, so it is better to use “ecological” or “natural environment” rather than environmental.	<b>IM-M2 – Relationships</b> Starting immediately, <i>local authorities</i> must: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) partner with Kāi Tahu to ensure <i>mana whenua</i> involvement in resource management,</li> <li>(2) work together and with other agencies to ensure consistent implementation of the objectives, policies and methods of this RPS, and</li> <li>(3) consult with Otago’s communities to ensure policy frameworks adequately respond to the diverse facets of <del>environmental</del><u>ecological</u>, social, cultural, and economic well-being.</li> </ol>
<b>IM-M3 – Identification of <i>climate change</i> impacts and community guidance</b>	Oppose	It is not appropriate for the RPS to avoiding significant natural hazard risk without understanding the tolerability of affected stakeholders. At a community scale, this requires input through meaningful engagement from the affected community.	<b>IM-M3 – Identification of <i>climate change</i> impacts and community guidance</b> By December 2025, Otago Regional Council must: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) identify the specific types and locations of <i>climate change</i> impacts in Otago by undertaking a <i>climate change risk</i> assessment, including an assessment <u>based on meaningful engagement with affected communities and</u> that incorporates a Kāi Tahu approach to <i>climate change risk</i> identification and evaluation, and</li> <li>(2) develop <u>with meaningful engagement from affected communities</u> guidance to support <u>those</u> communities to be prepared and <i>resilient</i>.</li> </ol>
<b>IM-M5 – Other methods</b>	Oppose	The term “possible” is an extremely stringent and probably unrealistic test.	<b>IM-M5 – Other methods</b> <i>Local authorities</i> should: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) at their next plan review or by December 2030, whichever is sooner, align (to the extent <del>possible</del><u>practicable</u>) all strategies and management plans prepared under other legislation to contribute to the attainment of the long-term vision for Otago, and</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>AIR-M3</b> <b>Territorial</b> <b>authorities</b>	– Oppose	Electric vehicles will not have an impact on air quality.	<b>AIR-M3 – Territorial authorities</b>  No later than 31 December 2029, <i>territorial authorities</i> must prepare or amend and maintain their <i>district plans</i> to include provisions that direct an urban form that assists in achieving good air quality by:  (1) reducing reliance on private <u>non-electric</u> motorised vehicles and enabling the adoption of <i>active transport</i> , shared transport and <i>public transport</i> options to assist in achieving good air quality, and  (2) managing the spatial distribution of activities.
<b>LF-WAI-O1 –</b> <b>Te Mana o te</b> <b>Wai</b>	Oppose	The term “maintained” would accord with policy LF-FW-P7.	<b>LF-WAI-O1 – Te Mana o te Wai</b>  The mauri of Otago's <i>water bodies</i> and their health and well-being is <del>protected</del> <u>maintained</u> , and restored where it is <i>degraded</i> , and the management of <i>land</i> and <i>water</i> recognises and reflects that...
<b>All FMU</b> <b>vision</b> <b>statements, in</b> <b>particular LF-</b> <b>VM-O2 –</b> <b>Clutha Mata-</b> <b>au FMU</b> <b>vision</b>	Oppose	A new clause should be inserted into the vision for all FMUs (although Wayfare's interests relate to the Clutha Mata-au FMU) seeking direction to provide for human wellbeing through thriving outdoor recreation opportunities, including access to waterbodies and use of water for outdoor recreation activities and water based transport.	<b>LF-VM-O2 – Clutha Mata-au FMU vision</b>  In the Clutha Mata-au <i>FMU</i> :  (1) <u>water bodies support human wellbeing through thriving outdoor recreation opportunities, including access to waterbodies and use of water for outdoor recreation and water based transport activities</u>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>LF-FW-O8 – Fresh water</b>	Oppose	<p>Clause 5 should be amended to clarify that the significant highly valued and outstanding values of Otago's outstanding water bodies are identified and protected from inappropriate subdivision, use and development. <u>It</u> is not appropriate to have blanket unqualified protection.</p> <p>Note the term "highly valued" is more appropriate than significant, given that it is a defined term and directly linked to section 7 (c), and the maintenance and protection of amenity values.</p>	<p><b>LF-FW-O8 – Fresh water</b></p> <p>In Otago's <i>water bodies</i> and their catchments:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) the health of the wai supports the health of the people and thriving mahika kai,</li> <li>(2) <i>water</i> flow is continuous throughout the whole system,</li> <li>(3) the interconnection of <i>fresh water</i> (including <i>groundwater</i>) and <i>coastal waters</i> is recognised,</li> <li>(4) native fish can migrate easily and as naturally as possible and taoka species and their habitats are protected, and</li> <li>(5) the <del>significant-highly valued</del> and outstanding values of Otago's <i>outstanding_ and highly valued</i> <i>water bodies</i> are identified and protected <u>from inappropriate subdivision, use and development</u>.</li> </ol>
<b>LF-FW-O9 – Natural wetlands</b>	Oppose	<p>Some (small) reduction in ecosystem health and amenity values could be appropriate, for example as provided for in the NESFM.</p> <p>Wetlands do not need to be protected for their amenity values as this gives rise to too much uncertainty about what is to be protected, especially if utility / recreation structures are proposed.</p>	<p><b>LF-FW-O9 – Natural wetlands</b></p> <p>Otago's <i>natural wetlands</i> are protected or restored so that:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) mahika kai and other <i>mana whenua</i> values are sustained and enhanced now and for future generations,</li> <li>(2) there is no decrease in the range and diversity of indigenous ecosystem types and habitats in <i>natural wetlands</i>,</li> <li>(3) there is no <u>discernible</u> reduction in their ecosystem health, hydrological functioning, <del>amenity values</del>, extent or <i>water</i> quality, and if degraded they are improved, and</li> <li>(4) their flood attenuation capacity is maintained.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
LF-FW-P9 – Protecting <i>natural wetlands</i>	Oppose	<p>The construction of specified infrastructure or other infrastructure should be provided for, not just maintenance.</p> <p>The matters of assessment should be “tightened” to restrict the matters of assessment to the natural values of the wetland, not any possible adverse effects associated with the proposal.</p>	<p><b>LF-FW-P9 – Protecting <i>natural wetlands</i></b></p> <p>Protect <i>natural wetlands</i> by:</p> <p>(1) avoiding a reduction in their values or extent unless:</p> <p>(a) the <i>loss of values</i> or extent arises from:</p> <p>(i) the customary harvest of food or resources undertaken in accordance with tikaka Māori,</p> <p>(ii) restoration activities,</p> <p>(iii) scientific research,</p> <p>(iv) the sustainable harvest of sphagnum moss,</p> <p>(v) the construction or maintenance of <i>wetland utility structures</i>,</p> <p>(vi) the <u>construction</u>, maintenance or <del>of</del> operation of <i>specifiede</i> infrastructure, or other infrastructure,</p> <p>(vii) <i>natural hazard works</i>, or</p> <p>(b) the Regional Council is satisfied that:</p> <p>(i) the activity is necessary for the construction or upgrade of <i>specified infrastructure</i>,</p> <p>(ii) the <i>specified infrastructure</i> will provide significant national or regional benefits,</p> <p>(iii) there is a <i>functional need</i> for the <i>specified infrastructure</i> in that location,</p> <p>(iv) the <i>effects</i> of the activity on indigenous <i>biodiversity</i> are managed by applying either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and</p> <p>(v) <del>the other effects</del> of the activity <u>on the loss of values or extent of the natural wetland</u> (excluding those managed under (1)(b)(iv)) are managed by applying the <i>effects management hierarchy</i>, and</p> <p>(2) not granting resource consents for activities under (1)(b) unless the Regional Council is satisfied that:</p> <p>(a) the application demonstrates how each step of the <i>effects management hierarchies</i> in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v) will be applied to the <i>loss of values</i> or extent of the <i>natural wetland</i>, and</p> <p>(b) any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply the <i>effects management hierarchies</i> in (1)(b)(iv) and (1)(b)(v) <u>in respect of any loss of values or extent of the natural wetland</u>.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>New Policy</b>	Oppose	Suggest new policy to get some policy support for activities which result in these benefits – as currently is there isn't any really.	<p><b><u>LF-FW-NEW POLICY – Promoting awareness of and access to <i>natural wetlands</i></u></b></p> <p><u>Support activities which result in either of 1-4 of LF-FW-P10 above, or improve people's awareness of, and access to, natural wetlands for customary, or scientific, or education, or recreational uses.</u></p>
<b>LF-FW-P12 – Protecting <i>outstanding water bodies</i></b>	Oppose	The NPSFM directs that the significant values of OWB be protected. The policy as notified in the RPS goes much further (is more stringent) than the requirements of the NPSFM.	<p><b>LF-FW-P12 – Protecting <i>outstanding water bodies</i></b></p> <p>The significant and outstanding values of <i>outstanding water bodies</i> are:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) identified in the relevant <i>regional</i> and <i>district plans</i>, and</li> <li>(2) protected by <u>managing activities to avoid, remedy or mitigate</u> adverse effects on those values.</li> </ol>

<p><b>LF-FW-P13 – Preserving natural character</b></p>	<p>Oppose</p>	<p>Clause 1(b) does not really make sense and should be reworded. Also, in respect of 1(b)(ii), the management hierarchy is not designed to apply to lakes. It is not appropriate to apply the hierarchy in respect of all effects, for example general landscape character and amenity values.</p> <p>It is possible that some modification of braided river character could be appropriate, particularly if that modification is associated with activities which avoid or mitigate risk to peoples health and safety, or is associated with significant infrastructure.</p>	<p><b>LF-FW-P13 – Preserving natural character</b></p> <p>Preserve the natural character of <i>lakes</i> and <i>rivers</i> and their <i>beds</i> and margins by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) avoiding the <i>loss of values</i> or extent of a <i>river</i>, unless: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) there is a <i>functional need</i> for the activity in that location, and</li> <li>(b) the <i>effects</i> of the activity are managed by applying: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(i) for <i>effects</i> on indigenous <i>biodiversity</i>, either ECO-P3 or ECO-P6 (whichever is applicable), and</li> <li>(ii) for other <i>effects</i> <u>on the natural character of rivers</u>, the <i>effects management hierarchy</i>,</li> </ol> </li> </ol> </li> <li>(2) not granting resource consent for activities in (1) unless Otago Regional Council is satisfied that: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) the application demonstrates how each step of the <i>effects management hierarchies</i> in (1)(b) will be applied to the <i>loss of values</i> or extent of the <i>river</i>, and</li> <li>(b) any consent is granted subject to conditions that apply the <i>effects management hierarchies</i> in (1)(b) <u>where relevant</u>,</li> </ol> </li> <li>(3) establishing environmental flow and level regimes and <i>water</i> quality standards that support the health and well-being of the <i>water body</i>, <u>acknowledging that environmental flow and level regimes may change over time due to climate change</u></li> <li>(4) wherever possible, sustaining the form and function of a <i>water body</i> that reflects its natural behaviours,</li> <li>(5) recognising and implementing the restrictions in Water Conservation Orders,</li> <li>(6) preventing the impounding or control of the level of Lake Wanaka,</li> <li>(7) preventing modification that would <u>permanently</u> reduce the <i>active</i> braided character of a <i>river</i>, <u>unless the modification is necessary to avoid or mitigate risk to people's health and safety</u>, and</li> </ol>
--------------------------------------------------------	---------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
			(8) controlling the use of <i>water</i> and <i>land</i> that would adversely affect the natural character of the <i>waterbody</i> .
<b>LF-FW-P14 – Restoring natural character</b>	Oppose	There needs to be a qualifier like ‘where practical’ because it is not always practical to “improve” margins, for example in built up areas that are subject to flooding (for example in central Queenstown and Taieri River).	<p><b>LF-FW-P14 – Restoring natural character</b></p> <p>Where the natural character of <i>lakes</i> and <i>ivers</i> and their margins has been reduced or lost, promote actions that:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) restore a form and function that reflect the natural behaviours of the <i>water body</i>,</li> <li>(2) improve <i>water</i> quality or quantity where it is <i>degraded</i>,</li> <li>(3) increase the presence, <i>resilience</i> and abundance of indigenous flora and fauna, including by providing for fish passage within <i>river</i> systems,</li> <li>(4) improve <i>water body</i> margins by naturalising bank contours <u>where practicable</u> and establishing indigenous vegetation and habitat, and</li> <li>(5) restore <i>water</i> pathways and natural connectivity between <i>water</i> systems.</li> </ol>
<b>LF-FW-P15 – Stormwater and wastewater discharges</b>	Oppose	It is not always desirable for sewage, industrial or trade waste to be discharged to a reticulated system, especially if alternative regimes have better environmental (ecological, social, cultural and economic) outcomes.	<p><b>LF-FW-P15 – Stormwater and wastewater discharges</b></p> <p>Minimise the adverse <i>effects</i> of direct and indirect <i>discharges</i> of <i>stormwater</i> and <i>wastewater</i> to <i>freshwater</i> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) except as required by LF-VM-O2 and LF-VM-O4, preferring <i>discharges</i> of <i>wastewater</i> to <i>land</i> over <i>discharges</i> to <i>water</i>, unless adverse <i>effects</i> associated with a <i>discharge</i> to <i>land</i> are greater than a <i>discharge</i> to <i>water</i>, and</li> <li>(2) requiring: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) all sewage, industrial or trade waste to be <i>discharged</i> into a reticulated <i>wastewater</i> system, where one is available, <u>unless alternative treatment and disposal methods will result in improved environmental outcomes.</u></li> </ol> </li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>LF-FW-M5 – Outstanding water bodies</b>	Oppose	It is not appropriate, practical or reasonable to include provisions in regional plans which avoid the adverse effects of activities on significant and outstanding values of outstanding water bodies, especially as these values are yet to be identified. The focus could be on managing activities to protect the significant and outstanding values.	<p><b>LF-FW-M5 – Outstanding water bodies</b></p> <p>No later than 31 December 2023, Otago Regional Council must:</p> <p>....</p> <p>(5) include provisions in <i>regional plans</i> to <del>manage</del> <u>avoid the adverse effects of activities to protect</u> <del>on</del> the significant and outstanding values of <i>outstanding water bodies</i>.</p>
<b>LF-FW-M6 – Regional plans</b>	Oppose	Environmental flow and level regimes for water bodies should include provision for human wellbeing through protecting and enhancing people's ability to access waterbodies and use water to support outdoor recreation activities and water transport.	<p><b>LF-FW-M6 – Regional plans</b></p> <p>Otago Regional Council must publicly notify a Land and Water <i>Regional Plan</i> no later than 31 December 2023 and, after it is made operative, maintain that <i>regional plan</i> to:</p> <p>(1) include environmental flow and level regimes for <i>water bodies</i> (including <i>groundwater</i>) that give effect to <i>Te Mana o te Wai</i> and provide for:</p> <p>(a) ...</p> <p><del>(a)</del> <u>(b) human wellbeing through protecting and enhancing people's ability to access waterbodies and use water to support outdoor recreation and water based transport activities, and</u></p>
<b>LF-FW-M7 – District plans</b>	Oppose	<p>It is not appropriate, practical or reasonable to avoid adverse effects of activities on the significant and outstanding values of outstanding water bodies.</p> <p>It is not appropriate or necessary to adopt water sensitive urban design techniques to all land development outside the urban environment.</p>	<p><b>LF-FW-M7 – District plans</b></p> <p><i>Territorial authorities</i> must prepare or amend and maintain their <i>district plans</i> no later than 31 December 2026 to:</p> <p>(1) map <i>outstanding water bodies</i> and identify their outstanding and significant values using the information gathered by Otago Regional Council in LF-FW-M5, and</p> <p>(2) include provisions to avoid <u>remedy or mitigate</u> the adverse effects of activities on the significant and outstanding values of <i>outstanding water bodies</i>,</p> <p>(3) require, wherever practicable, the adoption of water sensitive urban design techniques when managing the <i>subdivision</i>, use or development of <u>urban land</u>, and</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
LF-LS-P19 – Highly productive land	Oppose	<p>The reference to including rural lifestyle and rural residential areas is not necessary, and adds confusion (not clarity) to the policy.</p> <p>Clause (3) could be deleted altogether because it is redundant (it is not necessary to cross reference to implementation of other policies in the RPS) i.e. policies UFD 4,7,8 will be implemented irrespective of this policy.</p>	<p><b>LF-LS-P19 – Highly productive <i>land</i></b></p> <p>Maintain the availability and productive capacity of highly productive <i>land</i> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) identifying <u>and mapping</u> highly productive <i>land</i> based on the following criteria: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) the capability and versatility of the <i>land</i> to support primary production based on the Land_Use Capability classification system,</li> <li>(b) the suitability of the climate for primary production, particularly crop production, and</li> <li>(c) the size and cohesiveness of the area of <i>land</i> for use for primary production, and</li> </ol> </li> <li>(2) prioritising the use of highly productive <i>land</i> for primary production ahead of other <i>land</i> uses, and</li> <li>(3) managing urban development in rural areas, <del>including rural lifestyle and rural residential areas,</del> in accordance with UFD-P4, UFD-P7 and UFD-P8.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
LF-LS-P22 – Public access	Oppose	It can be appropriate to restrict public access to areas where plantings (e.g. restoration projects or riparian areas) to avoid or minimise damage to young / establishing vegetation.	<p><b>LF-LS-P22 – Public access</b></p> <p>Provide for public access to and along <i>lakes</i> and <i>rivers</i> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) maintaining existing public access,</li> <li>(2) seeking opportunities to enhance public access, including by <i>mana whenua</i> in their role as kaitiaki and for gathering of mahika kai, and</li> <li>(3) encouraging landowners to only restrict access where it is necessary to protect: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) public health and safety,</li> <li>(b) <i>significant natural areas</i>,</li> <li>(c) areas of outstanding natural character,</li> <li>(d) outstanding natural features and landscapes,</li> <li>(e) places or areas with special or outstanding <i>historic heritage</i> values, or</li> <li><u>(f)</u> places or areas of significance to <i>takata whenua</i>, including wāhi tapu and wāhi tūpuna.</li> </ol> </li> </ol> <p><u><del>(f)</del>(g) Areas of establishing vegetation / restoration projects</u></p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>LF-LS-M12 – District plans</b>	Oppose	It is generally appropriate to promote improved public access to and along the margins of waterbodies, and to use any means legally or practically available to do this.	<p><b>LF-LS-M12 – District plans</b></p> <p><i>Territorial authorities</i> must prepare or amend and maintain their <i>district plans</i> no later than 31 December 2026 to:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) manage <i>land</i> use change by: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) controlling the establishment of new or any spatial extension of existing <i>plantation forestry activities</i> where necessary to give effect to an objective developed under the NPSFM, and</li> <li>(b) minimising the removal of tall tussock grasslands, and</li> </ul> </li> <li>(2) provide for and encourage the creation and enhancement of vegetated riparian margins and constructed <i>wetlands</i>, and maintain these where they already exist, and</li> <li>(3) facilitate public access to, <u>and along the margin of,</u> <i>lakes</i> and <i>rivers</i> by: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) requiring the establishment of <i>esplanade reserves</i> and <i>esplanade strips</i>, and</li> <li>(b) promoting the use of legal <i>roads</i>, including paper <i>roads</i>, <u>and any other means of public access rights, to that</u> connect with <i>esplanade reserves</i> and <i>esplanade strips</i>.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>ECO-P3 – Protecting significant natural areas and taoka</b>	Oppose	This policy effectively says that no vegetation within a SNA can be removed. This does not accord with the concept of sustainable management, as some removal of vegetation within an identified SNA can have indiscernible or appropriate adverse effects, and can often be offset or compensated.	<p><b>ECO-P3 – Protecting <i>significant natural areas</i> and taoka</b></p> <p>Except as provided for by ECO-P4 and ECO-P5, protect <i>significant natural areas</i> and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) avoiding adverse <i>effects</i> that result in: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) any <u>discernible</u> reduction of the area or values (even if those values are not themselves significant) identified under ECO-P2(1), or</li> <li>(b) any loss of Kāi Tahu values, and</li> </ol> </li> <li>(2) after (1), applying the <i>biodiversity effects management hierarchy</i> in ECO-P6, and</li> <li>(3) prior to <i>significant natural areas</i> and indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka being identified in accordance with ECO-P2, adopt a precautionary approach towards activities in accordance with IM-P15.</li> </ol>
<b>ECO-P5 – Existing activities in significant natural areas</b>	Oppose	Some new land use can be appropriate in some significant natural areas.	<p><b>ECO-P5 – Existing activities in <i>significant natural areas</i></b></p> <p>Except as provided for by ECO-P4, provide for existing activities <u>and land uses</u> within <i>significant natural areas</i> and that <u>may</u> adversely affect indigenous species and ecosystems that are taoka, if:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) the continuation <u>or expansion</u> of an existing <u>or anticipated</u> activity/<u>land use</u> will not lead to the loss (including through cumulative loss) of extent or <i>degradation</i> of the ecological integrity of any <i>significant natural area</i> or indigenous species or ecosystems that are taoka, and</li> <li>(2) the adverse <i>effects</i> of an existing activity/<u>land use</u> are no greater in character, <u>overall</u> spatial extent, intensity or scale than they were before this RPS became operative.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>ECO-P8 – Enhancement</b>	Oppose	It is appropriate to promote subdivision, use and development which will support the achievement of the matters in clause 1-3.	<p><b>ECO-P8 – Enhancement</b></p> <p>The extent, occupancy and condition of Otago's indigenous <i>biodiversity</i> is increased by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) restoring and enhancing habitat for indigenous species, including taoka and mahika kai species,</li> <li>(2) improving the health and <i>resilience</i> of indigenous <i>biodiversity</i>, including ecosystems, species, important ecosystem function, and <i>intrinsic values</i>, <del>and</del></li> <li>(3) buffering or linking ecosystems, habitats and ecological corridors;</li> <li><del>(2)</del>(4) <u>promoting subdivision, use and development of resources which support 1-3 above.</u></li> </ol>
<b>ECO-P9 – Wilding conifers</b>	Oppose	Wayfare questions why clause 1 is restricted to conifers (as other tree species are pests) and replanting or plantation forestry, as opposed to simply reducing the amount of planting wilding conifers overall.	<p><b>ECO-P9 – Wilding <del>conifer</del>tree species</b></p> <p>Reduce the impact of wilding <del>trees</del> <i>conifers</i> on indigenous <i>biodiversity</i> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) avoiding afforestation and <del>replanting</del> of <del>plantation forests with wilding conifer tree</del> species listed in APP5 within: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) areas identified as <i>significant natural areas</i>, and</li> <li>(b) buffer zones adjacent to <i>significant natural areas</i> where it is necessary to protect the <i>significant natural area</i>, and</li> </ol> </li> <li>(2) supporting initiatives to control existing wilding <del>trees</del> <i>conifers</i> and limit their further spread.</li> </ol>
<b>ECO-M5 – District plans</b>	Oppose	District plans should provide for activities which promote as well as undertake the restoration or enhancement of habitats of indigenous flora and fauna	<p><b>ECO-M5 – District plans</b></p> <p><i>Territorial authorities</i> must prepare or amend and maintain their <i>district plans</i> to:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) ...</li> <li>(2) provide for activities <u>which promote or</u> undertake <del>the n for the purpose of</del> <i>restoration</i> or <i>enhancement</i> the habitats of indigenous <i>flora</i> <u>and</u> fauna, and</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>EIT-EN-O2 – Renewable electricity generation</b>	Oppose	It is not appropriate, nor achievable, to “maximise” the generation capacity of renewable electricity generation activities in Otago.	<p><b>EIT-EN-O2 – Renewable electricity generation</b></p> <p>The generation capacity of <i>renewable electricity generation activities</i> in Otago:</p> <p>(1) is maintained and, if practicable <del>maximised</del><u>increased</u>, within environmental limits, and</p> <p>(2) contributes to meeting New Zealand’s national target for <i>renewable electricity generation</i>.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
EIT-EN-P5 – Non-renewable energy generation	Oppose	<p>In certain situations it is not always practical to avoid the development of non-renewable energy sourced activities, for example activities in remote locations with a lack of daylight, or wind or water supply especially in winter and that rely on constant or secure electricity supply (so often require generators or backup generators).</p> <p>In respect of clause (3) it is appropriate that adverse effects of REG beyond those on waterbodies should be managed.</p>	<p><b>EIT-EN-P5 – Non-renewable energy generation</b></p> <p><u>Where use of renewable energy is a practical alternative to the use of non-renewable energy, a</u>Avoid the development of non-renewable energy generation activities in Otago and facilitate the replacement of non-renewable energy sources, including the use of fossil fuels, in energy generation.</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) provide for activities associated with the investigation, identification and assessment of potential sites and energy sources for <i>renewable electricity generation</i>,</li> <li>(2) require the prioritisation of sites for new <i>renewable electricity generation activities</i> where adverse effects on highly valued <i>natural and physical resources</i> and <i>mana whenua</i> values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised,</li> <li>(3) manage the adverse effects of developing or upgrading <i>renewable electricity generation activities</i> <del>that:</del> <p><del>(a) are within the beds of lakes and rivers and the coastal marine area, or</del>  <del>(b)(a) involve the taking, use, damming or diversion of water and discharge of water or contaminants,</del></p> </li> <li>(4) provide for the operation and maintenance of existing <i>renewable electricity generation activities</i>, including their <i>natural and physical resource</i> requirements, within the environmental limits, and</li> <li>(5) restrict the establishment of activities that may adversely affect the efficient functioning of <i>renewable electricity generation infrastructure</i> (including impacts on generation capacity).</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
EIT-INF-P13 – Locating and managing effects of infrastructure	Oppose	It is not always possible or practical to avoid all adverse effects from infrastructure, and all forms of infrastructure could potentially be appropriate if effects are minimised depending on the circumstances of each particular case.	<p><b>EIT-INF-P13 – Locating and managing <i>effects of infrastructure</i></b></p> <p>When providing for new <i>infrastructure</i> outside the coastal environment:</p> <p>(1) avoid, as the first priority, locating <i>infrastructure</i> in all of the following:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) <i>significant natural areas</i>,</li> <li>(b) <i>outstanding natural features and landscapes</i>,</li> <li>(c) <i>natural wetlands</i>,</li> <li>(d) <i>outstanding water bodies</i>,</li> <li>(e) <i>areas of high or outstanding natural character</i>,</li> <li>(f) <i>areas or places of significant or outstanding historic heritage</i>,</li> <li>(g) <i>wāhi tapu, wāhi taoka, and areas with protected customary rights</i>, and</li> <li>(h) <i>areas of high recreational and high amenity value</i>, and</li> </ul> <p>(2) if it is not possible to avoid locating in the areas listed in (1) above because of the <i>functional or operational needs</i> of the <i>infrastructure</i> manage <i>adverse effects</i> as follows:</p> <p><del>(a) for nationally or regionally significant infrastructure:</del></p> <p><del>(b)(a)</del> in <i>significant natural areas</i>, in accordance with ECO-P4,</p> <p><del>(c)(b)</del> in <i>natural wetlands</i>, in accordance with the relevant provisions in the NESF,</p> <p><del>(d)(c)</del> in <i>outstanding water bodies</i>, in accordance with LF-P12,</p> <p><del>(e) in other areas listed in EIT-INF-P13 (1) above, minimise the adverse effects of the infrastructure on the values that contribute to the area's importance, and</del></p> <p><del>(f) for all infrastructure that is not nationally or regionally significant, avoid adverse effects on the values that contribute to the area's outstanding nature or significance.</del></p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>EIT-INF-M4 – Regional plans</b>	Oppose	Clause 2 is ambiguous and unnecessarily onerous. How will a regional plan prioritise sites, sites from what types of activities?	<p><b>EIT-INF-M4 – Regional plans</b></p> <p>Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its <i>regional plans</i> to:</p> <p>(1) manage the adverse effects of <i>infrastructure</i> activities that:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) are in the <i>beds</i> of <i>lakes</i> and <i>rivers</i>, or</li> <li>(b) are in the <i>coastal marine area</i>, or</li> <li>(c) involve the taking, use, damming or diversion of <i>water</i> or,</li> <li>(d) involve the <i>discharge</i> of <i>water</i> or <i>contaminants</i>, <del>and</del></li> </ul> <p>(2) <del>require the prioritisation of sites for infrastructure where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.</del></p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>EIT-INF-M5 – District plans</b>	Oppose	<p>Clause 6 should be deleted or amended to allow non-urban activities to proceed or non-urban areas to be developed without being serviced by infrastructure.</p> <p>Clause 7 is ambiguous and unnecessarily onerous. How will a district plan prioritise sites, sites from what types of activities?</p>	<p><b>EIT-INF-M5 – District plans</b></p> <p><i>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</i></p> <p>(1) ...</p> <p>(2) ...</p> <p>(3) ...</p> <p>(4) ...</p> <p>(5) ...</p> <p>(6) ensure that <u>new urban</u> development is avoided where:</p> <p>(a) it cannot be adequately served with <i>infrastructure</i>,</p> <p>(b) it utilises <i>infrastructure</i> capacity for other planned development, or</p> <p>(c) the required upgrading of <i>infrastructure</i> is not funded, <del>and</del></p> <p>(7) <del>require the prioritisation of sites where adverse effects on highly valued natural and physical resources and mana whenua values can be avoided or, at the very least, minimised.</del></p>
<b>EIT-TRAN-O7 – Effective, efficient, and safe transport</b>	Oppose	Wayfare operates water ferry and taxi services, which are not on the sea. The RPS should recognise that water based transport occurs in the region.	<p><b>EIT-TRAN-O7 – Effective, efficient, and safe transport</b></p> <p>Otago has an integrated air, <i>land</i> and <del>sea</del> <u>water-based</u> transport network that...</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>EIT-TRAN-P19 – Transport system design</b>	Oppose	Consideration of transport options to key visitor destinations should be a strategic priority. Key visitor destinations should be identified by ORC or relevant TA, and included in transport strategies.	<p><b>EIT-TRAN-P19 – Transport system design</b></p> <p><i>Resilience</i> and adaptability of the transport system supports efficient networks for the transport of people and goods that are sustained and improved by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) promoting a consolidated urban form that integrates <i>land</i> use activities with the transport system,</li> <li>(2) placing a high priority on <i>active transport</i>, <del>and</del> <i>public transport</i> <u>and passenger transport</u> and their integration into the design of development and transport networks, and</li> <li>(3) encouraging improved access to public spaces, including the <i>coastal marine area, lakes and rivers</i>, <u>and key visitor destinations</u>.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>EIT-TRAN-M8 – District plans</b>	Oppose	It is not practical for some activities outside urban locations to be integrated with public transport services. An effective transport system in Otago (and Southland) relies on integration with private transport services – the system is more than just about public transport.	<p><b>EIT-TRAN-M8 – District plans</b></p> <p><i>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</i></p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) require a strategic approach to the integration of the transport system with <i>land</i> uses and between modes,</li> <li>(2) <del>define require</del> high trip generating activities <u>and, require high trip generating activities in urban areas</u> to be integrated with <del>public-passenger</del> transport services <u>(where sufficient public transport services exist or are planned)</u> and provide for safe pedestrian and cycling access,</li> <li>(3) include <i>subdivision</i> and <i>infrastructure</i> design standards to <u>encourage the minimisation of</u> private vehicle use, enable public transport networks to operate and recognise the accessibility needs of the community, including the mobility impaired, the elderly and children,</li> <li>(4) restrict or prevent the establishment or expansion of activities adjacent to transport <i>infrastructure</i> that may compromise the operation or safety of the transport system,</li> <li>(5) provide for the establishment of transport <i>infrastructure</i> that supports modes of transport that are not reliant on fossil fuels, and</li> <li>(6) include policies and methods that provide for <i>commercial port activities</i> associated with the operations at Otago Harbour and the ports at Port Chalmers and Dunedin.</li> </ol>
<b>HAZ-NH-P2 – Risk assessments</b>	Oppose	Refer comments on APP6 below.	<p><b>HAZ-NH-P2 – Risk assessments</b></p> <p>Assess the level of <i>natural hazard risk</i> by determining a range of <i>natural hazard</i> event scenarios and their potential consequences in accordance with:</p> <p><u>(1) A risk table or matrix at a district or community scale undertaken in a consultation process with communities, stakeholders and partners regarding risk levels thresholds; or if this process has not been undertaken</u></p> <p><del>(1)(2)</del> the criteria set out within APP6.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>HAZ-NH-P3 – New activities</b>	Oppose	All of the Otago region is subject to some type of natural hazard risk, including risks associated with a major earthquake (AF8). This risk cannot be avoided.	<p><b>HAZ-NH-P3 – New activities</b></p> <p>Once the level of <i>natural hazard risk</i> associated with an activity has been determined in accordance with HAZ-NH-P2(1), manage new activities to achieve the following outcomes:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) when the <i>natural hazard risk of new activities</i> is significant, the activity is avoided,</li> <li>(2) when the <i>natural hazard risk</i> is tolerable, manage the level of <i>risk</i> so that it does not become significant, and</li> <li>(3) when the <i>natural hazard risk</i> is acceptable, maintain the level of <i>risk</i>.</li> </ul>
<b>HAZ-NH-P4 – Existing activities</b>	Oppose	It is not necessary or appropriate to restrict existing activities which will not have or result in a significant natural hazard risk.	<p><b>HAZ-NH-P4 – Existing activities</b></p> <p>Reduce existing <i>natural hazard risk</i> by:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) encouraging activities that reduce <i>risk</i>, or reduce community vulnerability,</li> <li>(2) restricting activities that increase <i>risk to a significant risk</i>, or increase community vulnerability <i>to a significant risk</i>,</li> <li>(3) managing existing <i>land</i> uses within areas of significant <i>risk</i> to people and communities,</li> <li>(4) encouraging design that facilitates: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) recovery from <i>natural hazard</i> events, or</li> <li>(b) relocation to areas of acceptable <i>risk</i>, or</li> <li>(c) reduction of <i>risk</i>,</li> </ul> </li> <li>(5) relocating <i>lifeline utilities</i>, and facilities for essential and emergency services, away from areas of significant <i>risk</i>, where appropriate and practicable, and</li> <li>(6) enabling development, upgrade, maintenance and operation of <i>lifeline utilities</i> and facilities for essential and emergency services.</li> </ul>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
HAZ-NH-M2 – <i>Local authorities</i>	Oppose	The method can be simplified; refer back to the policy, which clarifies how the policy is to be implemented.	<p><b>HAZ-NH-M2 – <i>Local authorities</i></b></p> <p><i>Local authorities</i> must:</p> <p><del>(1)</del> assess the level of <i>natural hazard risk</i> in their region or district in accordance with HAZ-NH-P2 <del>and APP6, including by:</del></p> <p><del>(2)</del> <del>consulting with communities, stakeholders and partners regarding risk levels thresholds, and</del></p> <p><del>(3)</del> <del>(1) developing a Risk Table in accordance with Step 3 of APP6 at a district or community scale,</del></p> <p><del>(4)</del> <del>(2)</del> continue to undertake research on the identification of <i>natural hazard risk</i> and amend <i>natural hazard</i> registers, databases, <i>regional</i> and/or <i>district plans</i> as required,</p> <p><del>(5)</del> <del>(3)</del> investigate options for reducing the level of <i>natural hazard risk</i> within areas of existing development to a tolerable or lower level, including by managing existing use rights under Sections 10 and 20A of the RMA,</p> <p><del>(6)</del> <del>(4)</del> prepare or amend and maintain their <i>regional</i> or <i>district plans</i> to take into account the <i>effects</i> of <i>climate change</i> by:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) using the best relevant <i>climate change</i> data and projections to 2115,</li> <li>(b) taking a precautionary approach when assessing and managing the <i>effects</i> of <i>climate change</i> where there is scientific uncertainty and potentially significant or irreversible <i>effects</i>,</li> <li>(c) providing for activities that assist to reduce or mitigate the <i>effects</i> of <i>climate change</i>, and</li> <li>(d) encouraging system <i>resilience</i>.</li> </ul>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
HAZ-NH-M3 – <i>Regional plans</i>	Oppose	Clause 2 could have significant and adverse implications which have not been justified. It is not appropriate to restrict existing land use until after the community has been involved in decision making processes about the real life consequences of the policy direction suggesting removal of existing use rights.	<p><b>HAZ-NH-M3 – <i>Regional plans</i></b></p> <p>Otago Regional Council must prepare or amend and maintain its <i>regional plans</i> to:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) manage activities in the <i>coastal marine area</i>, <i>beds of lakes and rivers</i>, and <i>wetlands</i> to achieve policies HAZ-NH-P2 to HAZ-NH-P6 <del>and APP6</del>,</li> <li>(2) include <i>natural hazard</i> reduction measures, <del>such as removing or restricting existing land uses, where there is significant risk to people or property,</del></li> <li>(3) protect natural or modified features and systems that provide mitigation from the adverse <del>effects of</del> <i>natural hazards</i> in accordance with HAZ-NH-P6,</li> <li>(4) provide for <i>hard protection structures</i> in accordance with HAZ-NH-P7,</li> <li>(5) provide for the <i>functional needs</i> of hazard mitigation measures, <i>lifeline utilities</i>, and essential or emergency services in accordance with HAZ-NH-P8 and HAZ-NH-P9,</li> <li>(6) include provisions that require decision makers to apply the precautionary approach set out in HAZ-NH-P5 when considering applications for <i>resource consent</i> for activities that will change the use of <i>land</i> and thereby increase the <i>risk</i> from <i>natural hazards</i> within areas subject to <i>natural hazard risk</i> that is uncertain or unknown, but potentially significant or irreversible, and</li> <li>(7) require a <i>natural hazard risk</i> assessment be undertaken where an activity requires a <i>resource consent</i> to change the use of <i>land</i> which will increase the <i>risk</i> from <i>natural hazards</i> within areas subject to <i>natural hazards</i>, and where the <i>resource consent</i> is lodged prior to the <i>natural hazard risk</i> assessment required by HAZ-NH-M2(1) being completed, the <i>natural hazard risk</i> assessment must include: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) an assessment of the level of <i>natural hazard risk</i> associated with the proposal in accordance with APP6, and</li> <li>(b) an assessment demonstrating how the proposal will achieve the outcomes set out in Policies HAZ-NH-P3 and HAZ-NH-P4.</li> </ol> </li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>HAZ-NH-M4 – District plans</b>	Oppose	There should be no direction to require TAs to amend their district plans unless activities are subject to tolerable or significant natural hazard risk (i.e there should be no need to amend plans if risks are identified as “insignificant”).	<p><b>HAZ-NH-M4 – District plans</b></p> <p><i>Territorial authorities must prepare or amend and maintain their district plans to:</i></p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) achieve policies HAZ-NH-P2 to HAZ-NH-P6 and APP6 on <i>land</i> outside the coastal marine area, beds of lakes and rivers, and wetlands by managing the location, scale and density of activities that <del>are may be</del> subject to <u>tolerable or significant natural hazard risk</u>,</li> </ol>
<b>HCV-HH-P4 – Identifying historic heritage</b>	Oppose	This policy and APP8 do not match up (work effectively) because there is no distinction between what is “special” versus what is “outstanding”.	<p><b>HCV-HH-P4 – Identifying historic heritage</b></p> <p>Identify the places and areas of <i>historic heritage</i> in Otago in accordance with APP8-<del>and categorise them as:</del></p> <p><del>places and areas with special or outstanding historic heritage values or qualities, or places and areas with historic heritage values or qualities.</del></p>
<b>HCV-HH-P5 – Managing historic heritage</b>	Oppose	It is not appropriate to set a policy directive of “avoid” when the community is not aware of the activities which could potentially be restricted (or prevented) from occurring	<p><b>HCV-HH-P5 – Managing historic heritage</b></p> <p>Protect <i>historic heritage</i> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) requiring the use of accidental discovery protocols,</li> <li>(2) <del>avoiding adverse effects on areas or places with special or outstanding historic heritage values or qualities,</del></li> <li>(3) avoiding significant adverse effects on areas or places with <i>historic heritage</i> values or qualities,</li> <li>(4) avoiding, as the first priority, other adverse effects on areas or places with <i>historic heritage</i> values or qualities,</li> <li>(5) where adverse effects demonstrably cannot be completely avoided, remedying or mitigating them, and</li> <li>(6) recognising that for <i>infrastructure</i>, EIT-INF-P13 applies instead of HCV-HH-P5(1) to (5).</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>NFL-O1 – Outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes</b>	Oppose	There is no justification for removing this qualifier which is explicit in Part 2 of the RMA	<p><b>NFL-O1 – Outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes</b></p> <p>The areas and values of Otago's outstanding and <i>highly valued natural features and landscapes</i> are identified, and the use and development of Otago's <i>natural and physical resources</i> results in:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) the protection of outstanding natural features and <u>outstanding natural</u> landscapes, <u>from inappropriate subdivision, use and development</u>, and</li> <li>(2) the maintenance or enhancement of <i>highly valued natural features and landscapes</i>.</li> </ol>
<b>NFL-P1 – Identification</b>	Oppose	Identification of ONFLs and HVNLs include subjective attributes which should be informed by input from ngai tahu, communities and stakeholders (not just council appointed staff and experts).	<p><b>NFL-P1 – Identification</b></p> <p>In order to manage outstanding and <i>highly valued natural features and landscapes</i>, identify:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) the areas and values of outstanding and <i>highly valued natural features and natural</i> landscapes in accordance with APP9, and</li> <li>(2) <u>in consultation with Kai Tahu, communities, and stakeholders including affected landowners,</u> the capacity of those natural features and landscapes to accommodate use or development while protecting the values that contribute to the natural feature and <u>natural</u> landscape being considered outstanding or highly valued.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes</b>	Oppose	<p>There should be no direction to protect ONFLs beyond the requirement of s6(2), which is to protect these locations (or values) from inappropriate subdivision, use and development.</p> <p>There should be no requirement to avoid effects on landscape values which do not contribute to the ONFL being outstanding.</p> <p>The reference to “other effects” should clarify the assessment of “other effects” is limited to the ONFL value/attribute.</p>	<p><b>NFL-P2 – Protection of outstanding natural features and landscapes</b></p> <p>Protect outstanding natural features and landscapes <u>from inappropriate subdivision, use and development</u> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) avoiding <u>significant</u> adverse effects on the values that contribute to the natural feature or <u>natural</u> landscape being considered outstanding, <del>even if those values are not themselves outstanding</del>, and</li> <li>(2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects <u>that contribute to the natural feature or natural landscape being considered outstanding</u>.</li> </ol>
<b>NFL-P3 – Maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes</b>	Oppose	<p>The reference to “other effects” should clarify the assessment of “other effects” is limited to the HVNFL value/attribute.</p>	<p><b>NFL-P3 – Maintenance of highly valued natural features and landscapes</b></p> <p>Maintain or enhance <i>highly valued natural features and landscapes</i> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) avoiding significant adverse effects on the values of the natural feature or <u>natural</u> landscape, and</li> <li>(2) avoiding, remedying or mitigating other adverse effects <u>on the values of the natural feature or landscape</u>.</li> </ol>
<b>NFL-P4 – Restoration</b>	Oppose	<p>The policy directive should clarify that it is the restoration of “natural” values that is being referred to, not restoration of any landscape or other value.</p>	<p><b>NFL-P4 – Restoration</b></p> <p>Promote restoration of the areas and values of outstanding and <i>highly valued natural features and</i> <u>natural</u> landscapes where those areas or <u>natural</u> values have been reduced or lost.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
NFL-P5 – <i>Wilding conifers</i>	Oppose	All wilding tree species should be referred to, as the problem is wider than just Conifers (for example sycamores and other deciduous trees are wilding species). Also, all planting of wilding trees should be avoided/prohibited, not just replanting/plantation forestry.	<p><b>NFL-P5 – Wilding <del>conifers</del> <u>Tree Species</u></b></p> <p>Reduce the impact of wilding <del>trees</del> <u>conifers</u> on outstanding and highly valued natural features and landscapes by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>avoiding afforestation and <del>replanting</del> of <del>plantation forests with wilding tree</del> <u>conifer</u> species listed in APP5 within: <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>areas identified as outstanding natural features or landscapes, and</li> <li>buffer zones adjacent to outstanding natural features and landscapes where it is necessary to protect the outstanding natural feature or landscape, and</li> </ol> </li> <li>supporting initiatives to control existing wilding <del>trees</del> <u>conifers</u> and limit their further spread.</li> </ol>
NFL-M1 – Identification	Oppose	<p>The identification criteria fails to require a comparison test and include input from the local community. These matters should be included in the identification of an ONL or a HVNL and the respective outstanding and highly valued attributes.</p> <p>The Appendix fails to take into account the recreation and amenity focus of section 7(c) values.</p>	<p><b>NFL-M1 – Identification</b></p> <p><i>Territorial authorities must:</i></p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>include in their <i>district plans</i> a map or maps and a statement of the values of the areas of outstanding and highly valued natural features and <u>natural</u> landscapes, <u>prepared</u> in accordance with NFL-P1,</li> <li>include in their <i>district plans</i> a statement of the capacity of outstanding and highly valued natural features and <u>natural</u> landscapes to accommodate change in use and development without their values being materially compromised or lost, <u>prepared</u> in accordance with NFL-P1,</li> <li>recognise that natural features and <u>natural</u> landscapes may span jurisdictional boundaries and work together, including with the Regional Council, to identify areas under (1) to ensure that the identification of natural features and landscapes are treated uniformly across district boundaries, and</li> <li>prioritise identification under (1) in areas that are likely to contain outstanding natural features or <u>natural</u> landscapes and are likely to face development or growth pressure over the life of this RPS.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
UFD-O1 – Form and function of <i>urban areas</i>	Oppose	It is unclear what “significant values and features identified in this RPS” is referring to. This objective is vague and uncertain.	<p><b>UFD-O1 – Form and function of <i>urban areas</i></b></p> <p>The form and functioning of Otago’s <i>urban areas</i>:</p> <p>(1) ...</p> <p>(2) <del>maintains or enhances the significant values and features identified in this RPS, and the character and resources of each <i>urban area</i>.</del></p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
UFD-O4 – Development in rural areas	Oppose	<p>There are at least two issues with clause 1. First, “avoiding impact” is an extremely low threshold that effectively could prevent any development from occurring. Second, the significant values and features identified in this RPS are not actually identified, therefore it is difficult to comprehend the actual reach of this policy and its costs and benefits.</p> <p>These provisions should be limited to urban development, given the section is about urban form and development – not use of rural resources.</p> <p>Rural lifestyle and rural residential development is not defined in this RPS. Therefore, the policy could be interpreted as saying any scale of rural lifestyle or residential development (e.g. 1 house) requires “strategic planning” or “zoning”, which is too onerous and not necessary or appropriate in respect of implementing the objective, any other objective of the RPS, or the purpose of the Act.</p> <p>The term “rural” has a connotation which includes modified landscapes. It is appropriate to acknowledge that non-urban areas are characterised by more than just “rural character”, for example natural (unmodified) character. Non-rural and non-urban areas have tangible uses (e.g. tourism) and stakeholders.</p>	<p><b>UFD-O4 – <u>Urban</u> Development in <u>existing rural</u> areas</b></p> <p><u>Urban development</u> in Otago’s <i>rural</i> areas occurs in a way that:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) <del>avoids impacts on significant values and features identified in this RPS,</del></li> <li>(2) avoids as the first priority, land and soils identified as highly productive by LF–LS–P19 unless there is an <i>operational need</i> for the development to be located in <i>rural</i> areas,</li> <li>(3) only provides for urban expansion, <del>rural lifestyle and rural residential development</del> and the establishment of <i>sensitive activities</i>, in locations identified through strategic planning or zoned within <i>district plans</i> as suitable for such development; and</li> <li>(4) outside of areas identified in (3), maintains and enhances the <i>natural and physical resources</i> that support the productive capacity, <del>rural-non-urban</del> character, and long-term viability of the <del>non-urban rural</del> sector and <del>non-urban rural</del> communities.</li> </ol>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>UFD-P1 – Strategic planning</b>	Oppose	The term “maximise” is not achievable (either practically or in an aspirational sense) and should not be used in any RM planning instrument.	<p><b>UFD-P1 – Strategic planning</b></p> <p>Strategic planning processes, undertaken at an appropriate scale and detail, precede urban growth and <u>urban</u> development and:</p> <p>(1) ...</p> <p>(2) ...</p> <p>(3) <del>maximise-increase</del> current and future opportunities for increasing resilience, and facilitating adaptation to changing demand, needs, preferences and <i>climate change</i>,</p>

<p><b>UFD-P5 – Commercial activities</b></p>	<p>Oppose</p>	<p>The term important features and values identified by this RPS has no practical meaning – what are these? Also, this language is different to that used in other provisions (e.g. “outstanding”, “special”, “highly valued”).</p> <p>There is no need to maintain the amenity and character of rural areas, because if they are special (or important, or highly valued, or outstanding), then they will be managed in accordance with other provisions in the RPS. Clause P7(1) should be deleted or the specific “important features values” being referred to should be listed/articulated.</p> <p>Referent to the term “amenity” is problematic because ultimately “amenity values” are subjective and sit in the eye of the beholder.</p> <p>If amenity is to be used, it should be “amenity values” in accordance with 7c of the RMA, and direction should be provided how to identify or articulate the values that contribute to the amenity of that place/area (or non-urban environment).</p>	<p><b>UFD-P5 – Commercial activities</b></p> <p>Provide for <i>commercial activities</i> in <i>urban areas</i> by:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) enabling a wide variety and scale of <i>commercial activities</i>, social activities, <u>commercial recreational activities</u>, and cultural activities in central business districts, town centres and commercial areas, especially if they are highly accessible by <i>public transport</i> and <i>active transport</i>,</li> <li>(2) enabling smaller local and neighbourhood centres and rural settlements to accommodate a variety of <i>commercial activities</i>, social activities, <u>commercial recreational activities</u>, and cultural activities of a scale appropriate to service local community needs,</li> <li>(3) providing for the expansion of existing areas or establishment of new areas identified in (1) and (2) by first applying UFD-P1 and UFD-P2, and</li> <li>(4) outside the areas described in (1) and (2), allow for small scale retail and service activities, <u>commercial recreation</u>, home occupations and <i>community services</i> to establish within or close to the communities they serve.</li> </ol> <p><b>UFD-P7 – <u>Non-Urban Rural</u> Areas</b></p> <p>The management of <u>rural-non-urban areas</u>:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) <del>provides for the maintenance and, wherever possible, enhancement of important features and values identified by this RPS,</del></li> <li>(2) outside areas identified in (1), maintains the productive capacity, <del>amenity and character of rural areas,</del></li> <li>(3) enables <i>primary production</i> particularly on land or soils identified as highly productive in accordance with LF-LS-P19,</li> <li>(4) facilitates <i>rural industry</i> and supporting activities,</li> <li>(5) <del>identifies directs rural residential and rural lifestyle development to</del> areas <u>to be zoned for rural residential and rural lifestyle that</u> purposes in accordance with UFD-P8,</li> <li>(6) restricts the establishment of <u>urban activity and urban development</u> <del>residential activities, sensitive activities, and non-rural businesses</del> which could adversely</li> </ol>
----------------------------------------------	---------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
			<p>affect, including by way of reverse sensitivity, the productive capacity of highly productive <i>land, primary production</i> and <i>rural industry</i> activities, <del>and</del></p> <p>(7) <u>enables outdoor recreation (including commercial recreation).</u></p> <p>(8) <u>facilitates growth or expansion of existing visitor destination places and activities.</u></p> <p>(7)(9) otherwise limits the establishment of <u>urban development and urban residential</u> activities <del>and</del>, <i>sensitive activities</i>, <del>and non-rural businesses</del> to those that can demonstrate an <i>operational need</i> to be located in <u>non-urban-rural</u> areas.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
UFD-P8 – Rural lifestyle and rural residential zones	Oppose	<p>The term “adjacent” is problematic because it implies there is no physical separation between the urban and non-urban location. New rural lifestyle or residential activity could be appropriate if ready access and services is available (e.g. locations of land across a river or lake from an existing urban area which can be readily serviced by a bridge or water transport service).</p> <p>As above, clause 6 should be deleted or the specific “important features values” being referred to should be listed/articulated.</p>	<p><b>UFD-P8 – Rural lifestyle and rural residential zones</b></p> <p>The establishment, development or expansion of rural lifestyle and rural residential zones only occurs where:</p> <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(1) the <i>land</i> is adjacent to existing or planned <i>urban areas</i> <del>and-or</del> ready access to employment and services is available,</li> <li>(2) despite the direction in (1), also <del>avoids-discourages</del> <i>land</i> identified for future urban development in a relevant plan <del>or land reasonably likely to be required for its future urban development potential</del>, where the rural lifestyle or rural residential development would foreclose or reduce efficient realisation of that urban development potential,</li> <li>(3) minimises impacts on rural production potential, <del>amenity-values</del> and the potential for reverse sensitivity <i>effects</i> to arise,</li> <li>(4) avoids, as the first priority, highly productive land identified in accordance with LF-LS-P16,</li> <li>(5) the suitability of the area to accommodate the proposed development is demonstrated, including <ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>(a) capacity for servicing by existing or planned <i>development infrastructure</i> (including self- servicing requirements),</li> <li>(b) particular regard is given to the individual and cumulative impacts of domestic <i>water</i> supply, <i>wastewater</i> disposal, and <i>stormwater</i> management including self-servicing, on the receiving or supplying environment and impacts on capacity of <i>development infrastructure</i>, if provided, to meet other planned urban area demand, and</li> <li>(c) likely future demands or implications for publicly funded services and <i>additional infrastructure</i>, <del>and</del></li> </ol> </li> </ol> <p><del>provides for the maintenance and wherever possible, enhancement, of important features and values identified by this RPS.</del></p>

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
<b>UFD-M1 – Strategic planning</b>	Oppose	Spatial Plans should identify key visitor destinations located outside the urban environment, these include highly popular locations which attract and service many people. For example in the Queenstown Lakes District places like entrances to Mt Aspiring National Park, Skyline, the ski fields, and Walter Peak Farm.	<p><b>UFD-M1 – Strategic planning</b></p> <p>Amend clause 6 to require spatial plans to identify key visitor destinations outside the urban environment, for example:</p> <p>Otago Regional Council and <i>territorial authorities</i>:</p> <p>(6) must individually or jointly develop further regulatory or non-regulatory methods and actions to implement strategic and spatial plans, including to guide the detail of how, when and where <i>development</i> occurs, including matters of urban design, requirements around the timing, provision, and responsibilities for open space, connections and infrastructure, including by third parties, and the ongoing management of effects of urban development on matters of local importance, and <u>any spatial plan shall identify key visitor destinations outside the urban environment, and</u></p>
<b>UFD-M2 – District plans</b>	Oppose	<p>Clause 3(d) includes the term “water sensitive design”, however this does not have a practical or clear meaning. Clause 7 should be amended to clarify that development outside urban areas should be managed in accordance with UFD-P7, not just rural areas. Note also this is a potential consequence of deleting the definition of “rural area”.</p> <p>It is not necessary to include “rural areas” in clause (8), as rural residential and rural lifestyle activities cannot occur in urban locations.</p>	<p>Clarify or define what is meant by “water sensitive design” in clause 3(d).</p> <p>Amend clauses 7 and 8 as follows:</p> <p><i>Territorial authorities</i> must prepare or amend their <i>district plans</i> as soon as practicable, and maintain thereafter, to:</p> <p>(7) manage development in <del>rural</del> <u>non-urban</u> areas in accordance with UFD-P7,</p> <p>(8) manage rural residential and rural lifestyle activities in <del>rural areas</del> in accordance with UFD-P8,</p>

<p><b>APP6 – Methodology for natural hazard risk assessment</b></p>	<p>Oppose</p>	<p>Step 2 should be amended to clarify that community input is required to determine risk level thresholds at a district or community wide scale. In the absence of this being undertaken, for individual sites, the consequence criteria in Table 7, in respect of buildings, should be clarified to stipulate that any activity which is anticipated by a district plan will have no worse than moderate effects on buildings unless those buildings are lifeline or critical buildings and structures.</p> <p>The Criteria Step 2 should also be amended to include numerous other matters that is relevant to tolerability, for example, the matters resolved in the QLDC PDP Natural Hazards chapter (which Wayfare was involved in), including:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• the nature and scale of the activity, and activities in the area, including any existing lawfully established land use or zoning;</li> <li>• the actual and potential adverse effects of the natural hazard on people and communities;</li> <li>• the consequence of and response to past natural events;</li> <li>• the effectiveness and implementation of responses, adoptions or mitigation measures</li> <li>• individual and community vulnerability and resilience</li> </ul>	<p><b>APP6 – Methodology for <i>natural hazard risk assessment</i></b></p> <p><del>Undertake the following four step process to determine the <i>natural hazard risk</i>.</del></p> <p><b>Step 2 – <i>Natural hazard consequence</i></b></p> <p><del>HAZ–NH–M2 requires local authorities to undertake a consultation process with communities, stakeholders and partners regarding risk levels thresholds and develop a risk table / matrix at a district or community scale. Tables 7A and 7B provide a region-wide baseline to be applied in the absence of the district or community scale risk table being completed.</del></p> <p>Using <del>Table 7 and</del> the matters listed in (1) to (150) below, <u>and Tables 7A and 7B as a guideline</u>, assess the consequence (catastrophic, major, moderate, minor, or insignificant) of the <i>natural hazard</i> scenarios identified in step 1 considering:</p> <p><u>(1) the nature and scale of the activity, and activities in the area, including any existing lawfully established land use or zoning;</u></p> <p><u>(2) the actual and potential adverse effects of the natural hazard on people and communities;</u></p> <p><u>(3) the consequence of and response to past natural events;</u></p> <p><del>(4)</del><u>(4) the effectiveness and implementation of responses, adoptions or mitigation measures</u></p> <p><del>(2)</del><u>(5) individual and community vulnerability and resilience,</u></p> <p><del>(3)</del><u>(6) impacts on individual and community health and safety,</u></p> <p><del>(4)</del><u>(7) impacts on social, cultural and economic well-being,</u></p> <p><del>(5)</del><u>(8) impacts on infrastructure and property, including access and services,</u></p> <p><del>(6)</del><u>(9) available and viable risk reduction and hazard mitigation measures,</u></p> <p><del>(7)</del><u>(10) lifeline utilities, essential and emergency services, and their co-dependence,</u></p> <p><del>(8)</del><u>(11) implications for civil defence agencies and emergency services,</u></p> <p><del>(9)</del><u>(12) the changing natural hazard environment,</u></p>
---------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

	<p>will not have a significant natural hazard risk unless certain criteria are met. Accordingly, different.</p> <p>These factors are in the operative QLDC district plan for determining risk tolerability (chapter 28). The operative QLDC District Plan was prepared in accordance with the pRPS 2015.</p> <p>Step 4(1) should be amended because it doesn't make sense to have "natural hazard risk" as a criteria for identifying natural hazard risk</p> <p>Quantification of natural hazard risk can be expensive, full of uncertainty (as its only models) is [at this stage] scientific jargon, and prevents affected stakeholders tolerability being applied and tested on a case-by-case basis.</p> <p>Quantitative assessments are appropriate for risk assessment where those assessments are undertaken by Councils or applicants for plan changes and resource consent applications for activities which are not existing or are not anticipated by a district plan.</p>	<p><del>(10)</del>(13) cumulative effects including multiple and cascading hazards, where present, and</p> <p><del>(11)</del>(14) factors that may exacerbate a natural hazard event including the effects of climate change.</p> <p>Amend Table 7 as follows:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"><li>Rename as: <u>Table 7A: Consequence table – to be used in plan changes &amp; activities not anticipated by a zone in a district plan</u></li><li>Amend headings by inserting (if applicable) after the terms "Buildings", "Critical Buildings", and "Lifelines"</li><li>Insert new Table as below</li></ul> <p><u>Table 7B: Consequence table – to be used for individual sites or individual activities anticipated under a district plan</u></p> <table><tr><th><u>Severity of Impact</u></th><th><u>Buildings (not critical or lifeline)</u></th><th><u>Critical or lifeline buildings/structures</u></th><th><u>Health &amp; Safety</u></th></tr><tr><td><u>Catastrophic (V)</u></td><td>=</td><td><u>Out of service for &gt; 1 month (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for &gt; 6 months (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population)</u></td><td><u>&gt; 101 dead and/or &gt; 1001 injured</u></td></tr><tr><td><u>Major (IV)</u></td><td>=</td><td><u>Out of service for 1 week – 1 month (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for 6 weeks to 6 months (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population)</u></td><td><u>11 – 100 dead and/or 101 – 1000 injured</u></td></tr></table>	<u>Severity of Impact</u>	<u>Buildings (not critical or lifeline)</u>	<u>Critical or lifeline buildings/structures</u>	<u>Health &amp; Safety</u>	<u>Catastrophic (V)</u>	=	<u>Out of service for &gt; 1 month (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for &gt; 6 months (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population)</u>	<u>&gt; 101 dead and/or &gt; 1001 injured</u>	<u>Major (IV)</u>	=	<u>Out of service for 1 week – 1 month (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for 6 weeks to 6 months (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population)</u>	<u>11 – 100 dead and/or 101 – 1000 injured</u>
<u>Severity of Impact</u>	<u>Buildings (not critical or lifeline)</u>	<u>Critical or lifeline buildings/structures</u>	<u>Health &amp; Safety</u>											
<u>Catastrophic (V)</u>	=	<u>Out of service for &gt; 1 month (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for &gt; 6 months (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population)</u>	<u>&gt; 101 dead and/or &gt; 1001 injured</u>											
<u>Major (IV)</u>	=	<u>Out of service for 1 week – 1 month (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for 6 weeks to 6 months (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population)</u>	<u>11 – 100 dead and/or 101 – 1000 injured</u>											

			<div> <div> <div>Moderate</div> <div>(III)</div> </div> <div>=</div> <div> Out of service for 1 day to 1 week (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for 1 week to 6 weeks (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population) </div> <div> 2 – 20 dead and/or 11 – 100 injured </div> </div>
			<div> <div>Minor</div> <div>(II)</div> </div> <div> A proposed building on the site is functionally compromised </div> <div> Out of service for 2 hours to 1 day (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for 1 day to 1 week (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population) </div> <div> 1 dead and/or 1 = 10 injured </div>
			<div> <div>Insignificant</div> <div>(I)</div> </div> <div> No proposed building is functionally compromised </div> <div> Out of service for up to 2 hours (affecting ≥20% of the town/city population) OR suburbs out of service for up to 1 day (affecting &lt; 20% of the town/city population) </div> <div> No dead No injured </div>
<p><u>When assessing consequences within this matrix, the final level of impact is assessed on the 'first past the post' principle, in that the consequence with the highest severity of impact applies.</u></p> <p><u>When this assessment is being undertaken in accordance with HAZ-NH-M3(7)(a) or HAZ-NH-M4(7)(a) the text within Step 2 shall guide the assessment of <i>natural hazard consequence</i>.</u></p> <p><b>Amend Step 3(1) (Assessing activities for <i>natural hazard risk</i>) as follows:</b></p> <p>Using the information within steps 1 and 2 above, and Table 8, assess whether the <i>natural hazard</i> scenarios will have an acceptable, tolerable, or significant <i>risk</i> to people, property and communities, by considering:</p> <p>(1) <u><del>the natural hazard risk identified, including residual risk</del> peoples and communities awareness and experiences of the risk, including any investigations, initiatives or natural hazard risk engagement that have been undertaken,</u></p> <p><b>Delete Step 4 or clarify that it need only be used by xx</b></p>			

Provision	Position	Specific Reason(s) if any	Amendment Sought
APP9	Oppose	<p>The identification criteria fails to require a comparison test and include input from the local community. These matters should be included in the identification of an ONL or a HVNL and the respective outstanding and highly valued attributes.</p> <p>The Appendix fails to take into account the recreation and amenity focus of section 7(c) values.</p>	<p><b>APP9 – Identification criteria for outstanding and <i>highly valued natural features, landscapes</i> and seascapes</b></p> <p>The areas and the values of outstanding and <i>highly valued natural features, natural landscapes</i> and seascapes are identified using the following attributes, <u>compared with other natural features, natural landscapes and seascapes in the applicable District, and undertaken in consultation with the community:</u></p> <p>Also expand the criteria in APP9 to encompasses the use values associated with people's appreciation and use of resources, including waterbodies.</p>

Provision	Position	Specific Comment	Decision / amendment sought
<b>SRMR – entire section</b>	Oppose	The SRMR section fails to identify or discuss, in a positive frame, the benefits to people and the environment from subdivision, use and development of natural and physical resources. Wayfare is particularly concerned that the SRMR section does not discuss the wellbeing benefits (and need) of ensuring people can access and use the rural and natural environment.	<p>Insert new section to identify and discuss, in a positive frame, the benefits to people and the environment from subdivision, use and development of natural and physical resources.</p> <p>This section should also identify and discuss the wellbeing benefits (and need) of ensuring people can access and use the rural and natural environment.</p>
<b>SRMR – entire section</b>	Oppose	The SRMR section is written too negatively, with limited reference to any positive or beneficial resource management issues. If the focus is to remain on adverse effects (or negative significant resource management issues then the headings of each “Impact Snapshot” section should be amended to say “Adverse Impact Snapshot”.	Amend each “Impact Snapshot” to say “Adverse Impact Snapshot”.
<b>SRMR-11 – Context</b>	Oppose	Natural hazard events occur all the time without any discernible impact.	The Otago region is exposed to a wide variety of <i>natural hazards</i> that impact on people, property, <i>infrastructure</i> , historic heritage and the wider <i>environment</i> . When a <u>major natural hazard</u> event occurs, it is usually difficult and costly for a community to recover. ..
<b>Entire RPs</b>	Oppose	The term natural capital is used in the RPS but is not defined. Wayfare supports the use of the term natural capital, provided it is defined in the RPS.	Define Natural Capital.

<b>SRMR-12</b> <b>Climate</b> <b>change</b> <b>is</b> <b>likely</b> <b>to</b> <b>impact</b> <b>our</b> <b>economy</b> <b>and</b> <b>environment</b> <b>–</b> <b>Economy</b>	- Oppose	<p>The statement as written is misleading as it suggests “snow days” are the same as “skiing day”s”. Moreover, the MfE reference which does not link the reduced snowfall to skiing. The MfE website says:</p> <p><i>Snowfall</i>  <i>The Otago region is likely to experience significant decreases in seasonal snow. By the end of the century, the number of snow days experienced annually could decrease by as much as 30-40 days in some parts of the region. The duration of snow cover is also likely to decrease, particularly at lower elevations.</i></p> <p><i>Less winter snowfall and an earlier spring melt may cause marked changes in the annual cycle of river flow in the region. Places that currently receive snow are likely to see increasing rainfall as snowlines rise to higher elevations due to rising temperatures. So for rivers where the winter precipitation currently falls mainly as snow and is stored until the snowmelt season, there is the possibility for larger winter floods.</i></p>	<p><del>For Some</del> tourism activities may be affected. For example, <u>the amount of natural snowfall is expected to reduce; meaning ski fields will be more reliant on snowmaking.</u> <del>there will be negative impacts on skiing where the number of snow days experienced annually could decrease by as much as 30-40 days in some parts of the region. The duration of snow cover is also likely to decrease, particularly at lower elevations. This will also lead to reduced summer waterflows</del></p>
<b>SRMR-13</b> <b>statement</b>	- Oppose	<p>The issue of wilding tree species is not limited to conifers.</p>	<p>Replace reference to “wilding conifers” with Wilding Tree Species.</p>
<b>SRMR-13</b> <b>context</b> <b>–</b> <b>economic</b>	- Oppose	<p>Weeds such as didymo and lake snow clogs up pumps – increased costs with frequent inspections &amp; cleaning required.</p>	<p>Weeds, <u>including didymo and lake snow</u> can also adversely impact <i>infrastructure</i>, for example, <i>water</i> systems including irrigation, dams, and levies; power systems (e.g. generation penstock, gates, valves, surge tanks, transmission lines); and transportation systems (e.g. <i>road</i> beds, <i>lake</i> and <i>river</i> transportation, airstrips).</p>

<b>SRMR-14 – STATEMENT</b>	Oppose	The majority of urban growth has occurred in modified rural landscape, not “natural landscape”.	Natural resources used for urban development are permanently transformed – with the opportunity cost of removing urban activity being too high for land to revert to productive uses. Frequently, places that are attractive for urban growth also have landscape and productive values all of which must be balanced and where possible protected. The growth of Wanaka and Queenstown is changing the <del>natural</del> landscape. Mosgiel’s growth is occurring on some of Otago’s most highly productive soil, which removes the option for agriculture. Towns like Arrowtown, Clyde and Milton experience poor airquality in winter, while experiencing pressure to grow.
--------------------------------	--------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

<b>SRMR-14 – STATEMENT – CONTEXT</b>	Oppose	<p>The discussion about rural areas does not sufficiently identify or discuss the unmodified naturalness of many parts of non-urban areas.</p> <p>The last sentence is fanciful and meaningless.</p>	<p>Otago's urban areas, like its people and landscapes, are also diverse. The attraction of urban areas results from the benefits of proximity and access to a variety of other people, experiences, goods, services (e.g., shopping, education, specialist service providers, recreation and leisure facilities and <i>infrastructure</i> (usually described as agglomeration effect)). These are generally considered to exceed the inconveniences such as congestion, pollution, and noise. Growth in some urban areas and demand for living in and visiting Otago can also be driven by proximity and access to highly valued natural features, such as the coast, mountains, <i>lakes</i>, and <i>rivers</i>. The open space and landscapes provided in rural <u>and unmodified natural</u> areas <u>additionally also</u> drives demand for rural residential/<u>lifestyle</u> living, particularly in areas with these qualities that are <u>similarly also</u> in relative proximity to urban services.</p> <p>Well-functioning urban places need to be dynamic and efficient, enable human social interactions and provide a wide variety of housing, employment, service and recreational opportunities that meet changing needs and preferences, in a way that maximises the well-being of all its present and future inhabitants, and respects its history and historic heritage, its setting and the <i>environment</i>. This requires well located development, supported by the necessary infrastructure.</p> <p>Urban growth, especially if it exceeds <i>infrastructure</i> capacity (either through sheer pace and scale or by lack of planning) or if it occurs in a way or at a rate that mean that appropriate <i>infrastructure</i> is not provided, is lagging or is inefficient, can result in adverse impacts on the <i>environment</i>, existing residents, business and wider society. <del>Quality urban environments are those that maximise the positive aspects of urban areas and minimise the negative.</del></p>
--------------------------------------	--------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

SRMR – 15 – context	Oppose	“balancing” is not an appropriate term to use given the hierarchy of obligations under TMOTW.	<p><i>Freshwater</i>, including <i>rivers</i> and streams, <i>lakes</i>, <i>groundwater</i> systems, and <i>wetlands</i>, is a finite <u>non-exclusive</u> resource, critical to the <u>natural</u> environment, society and the economy. In Otago, access to, allocation, and <i>use</i> of <i>freshwater</i> reflects current demands and historical development associated with “deemed permits” (water permits under the RMA 1991) and a permissive water resource management regime. The deemed permits originated from mining licences issued under historic mining legislation and which enable water to continue to be used for a range of uses until October 2021.</p> <p>Population growth and land-use intensification in urban and rural environments can create increased demand for <i>freshwater</i> for human consumption, irrigation and other economic uses. <i>Freshwater</i> resources in some places are reaching, or are beyond, their sustainable abstraction limits. However, there continues to be debate in the community about how historical <i>freshwater</i> allocations can be adjusted to achieve a <u>sustainable outcome</u> <del>balance of economic, environmental, social and cultural needs</del>.</p>
SRMR 15 – Impact Snapshot Economic	Oppose	Minor edit, relevant to tourism.	<p><i>Freshwater</i> in the Otago region is a factor of production that directly contributes to human needs (urban <i>water</i> supply), agriculture (including irrigation), hydro-electric power supply, <u>tourism (for example water supply for visitor destinations and snowmaking)</u>, and mineral extraction. <i>Freshwater</i> also indirectly contributes to the tourism industry through maintenance of <i>freshwater</i> assets for aesthetic and commercial recreational purposes. Lack of <i>freshwater</i> can negatively impact economic output of those industries that rely on <i>water</i> in the production process. To varying degrees these impacts can be mitigated through <i>water</i> efficiency measures and innovation. At the same time other industries, such as tourism <u>activities</u> that rely on the aesthetic characteristic of <i>rivers</i> and <i>lakes</i>, do not have such opportunities available to them and instead rely on management regimes that sustain flows and <i>water</i> levels suitable for their activities.</p>

SRMR 15 – Impact Snapshot Social	Oppose	Minor edit, relevant to people's well-being.	Ensuring appropriate <i>freshwater</i> supply for human <i>use</i> is available <u>is essential, including</u> as part of planned urban growth <del>—is essential</del> . It is possible this may require consideration of additional <i>freshwater</i> storage in the future. The region's <i>freshwater</i> assets also support a range of recreation uses, for example camping, fishing, <i>water</i> sports, and swimming. These values are strongly linked to environmental values and as such, reduced environmental flows have a corresponding negative impact on social and cultural values <u>(including people's wellbeing)</u> .
SRMR 16 – heading	Oppose	Point of clarification	<b>Declining <i>water</i> quality has adverse <i>effects</i> on the <u>natural</u> <i>environment</i>, <u>our</u> communities, and the economy</b>
SRMR 16 – statement	Oppose	Minor edit	While the pristine areas of Otago generally maintain <u>very</u> good <i>water</i> quality, some areas of Otago demonstrate poorer quality and declining trends in <i>water</i> quality which can be attributed to <i>discharges</i> from <i>land use</i> intensification (both rural and urban) and <i>land</i> management practices. Erosion, run-off and soil loss can lead to sediment and nutrients being deposited into <i>freshwater</i> bodies resulting in declining <i>water</i> quality.
SRMR 16 – context	Oppose	Minor edit, point of clarification.	<p>The health of <i>water</i> is vital for the health of the <u>natural</u> <i>environment</i>, people and the economy. It is at the heart of culture and identity. Nationally, and in parts of Otago, <i>freshwater</i> is facing significant pressure. Population growth and land-use intensification in urban and <u>non-urban rural</u> environments has impacted the quality of <i>water</i>, increasing contamination from nutrients and sediment.</p> <p><i>Water</i> quality affects a wide range of environmental health factors, human survival needs, and cultural, social, recreational, and economic uses. Some of the biggest <u>adverse</u> impacts on <i>water</i> quality in Otago are considered to come from agriculture and urbanisation, through diffuse <i>discharges</i> and point source <i>discharges</i>.</p>

<b>SRMR 17</b>	Oppose	It is important in Otago to promote the need to restore and enhance biodiversity values, not just maintain or protect what is left.	Insert statement/discussion in this section about the need to restore biodiversity, not just maintain or protect what's left.
<b>SRMR 17</b>	Oppose	Hydro have had implications for the natural environment and this should be acknowledge.	Insert statement / discussion in this section to identify/acknowledge the effects Hydro dams are having on coastal erosion for example in respect of lack of sediment coming down Clutha River affecting beaches north of Clutha River outlet. (source <a href="https://niwa.co.nz/news/shifting-sands-%E2%80%93-the-end-of-a-kiwi-dream">https://niwa.co.nz/news/shifting-sands-%E2%80%93-the-end-of-a-kiwi-dream</a> )
<b>SRMR 17 – impact statement</b>	Oppose	Minor point of clarification.	There are 62 ecosystem <u>units</u> in the Otago region.
<b>SRMR – 18 Statement</b>	Oppose	Minor point of clarification	Otago's coast provides habitat for rare species (including toroa and hoiho), comprises some of the region's outstanding <u>natural</u> landscapes, is a rich food source, provides many recreation opportunities, is the location for some industries, and has potential for further economic use (aquaculture).
<b>SRMR – 18 Context</b>	Oppose	Minor point of clarification	Activities occurring within or affecting the coastal environment include urban development, recreational activities, transport <i>infrastructure</i> , energy generation and transmission, land and marine <u>based</u> (e.g. aquaculture) food production industries and other rural industry activities, <i>plantation forestry</i> , fishing, tourism, and <i>mineral</i> extraction. Such activities <del>are</del> <u>can be</u> important contributors to the <del>existing and future</del> health and well-being of <u>people and communities</u> , <del>when they are located and managed appropriately</del> . A number of these activities provide a significant contribution to the regional economy.
<b>SRMR-19 HEADING</b>	- Oppose	Minor point of clarification	<u>Central</u> Otago lakes are subject to pressures from tourism and population growth

<b>SRMR-19 – STATEMENT</b>	Oppose	Point of clarification	The beauty, recreational opportunities and regional climate of Lakes Wanaka, Wakatipu, Hāwea and Dunstan and their environs attract visitors and residents from around the region, the country, and the world. This influx brings economic <u>benefit through urban growth and tourism opportunities</u> , but <del>the activities and services created to take advantage of it</del> can degrade the <u>natural environment</u> and undermine the experience that underpins their attractiveness.
<b>SRMR-19 – CONTEXT</b>	Oppose	Points of clarification	Healthy <i>lakes</i> are one of Otago's most valued natural resources and for the most part <i>water</i> quality is <u>very</u> good. <del>The v</del> Values assigned to <i>lakes</i> include the natural features and <u>natural</u> landscapes, the quality and quantity of <i>water</i> accessible to the Otago communities, the accessibility of these resources for recreation <u>and transport</u> , the health of native flora and fauna associated with Otago's <i>rivers</i> and <i>lakes</i> , and renewable energy production. ...
<b>SRMR-19 – SNAPSHOT – environmental</b>	Oppose	What evidence is this statement based on? What type of tourism demand, as opposed to urban growth, results in degradation of water quality?	...However, <i>water</i> quality is being adversely impacted by increased population <u>and</u> , urban development <del>and</del> <u>tourism demand</u> which is straining existing waste management infrastructure. In addition, localised degradation of some areas is occurring due to overuse and unregulated use (e.g. freedom camping). The amenity of these areas is being compromised in some places by over-crowding.  Recreation use impacts on the <i>environment</i> can be a <i>risk</i> , for example the distribution of pest species <u>can</u> be accelerated as has occurred for lake snow and <i>Lagarosiphon</i> weeds, being spread by recreation boating movements. Natural features and landscape values <u>can</u> <del>are</del> also <u>be</u> adversely impacted by tourism <u>development</u> , <del>and</del> urban growth, and energy production.

<b>SRMR-19 – SNAPSHOT – economic</b>	Oppose	<p>These statements are unfounded. Firstly, there is no evidence that international visitors think there is an overcrowding issue in the district (or NZ). Secondly, there is no evidence to suggest tourism income will be adversely affected by NZs reputation. Thirdly, the tourism industry does not have a social license to operate (or at least there is no evidence to say this and there is no such thing in RMA language).</p> <p>How has or can tourism negatively impact agriculture? In fact it is the opposite, e.g. some (probably many) farming activities rely on tourism as an additional source of income.</p>	<p>The economic benefits of urban development, tourism, agriculture, energy production and <i>water</i> supply can be positive for the Otago-Lakes’ communities and visitors. It also impacts on the region’s natural assets with a growing cost to the region that puts at <i>risk</i> the <i>environment</i> highly prized by residents and visitors. There are also impacts between industry sectors.</p> <p>For example, the clean green image of New Zealand, of which the Otago Lakes area is symbolic, is at <i>risk</i> of being compromised <del>because of over-crowding if the quality of lakes becomes degraded or visitor numbers exceed the servicing capacity of the district in peak tourism seasons. This has the potential to adversely affect the existing regional economy and future economic development; and the tourism industry’s social licence to operate. At the same time tourism can negatively impact on how agriculture can operate, potentially limiting its contribution to the regional economy.</del></p> <p>Urban development brings economic development and improved opportunities and standards of living to the Otago lakes area but can adversely impact on both the <i>environment</i> and how agriculture can operate.</p>
<b>SRMR-19 – SNAPSHOT – social</b>	Oppose	Points of clarification.	<p><u>Poorly managed activities and</u> <del>Over-crowding</del> impacts <u>can</u> adversely affect recreation experiences of both tourists and residents, <u>particularly outdoor recreation, such as fishing and water sports, and urban amenity.</u> Infrastructure capacity limits can, for example, result in an increased number of wastewater overflows <u>into</u> the environment when demand on the network exceeds capacity. These can have significant adverse impacts on human health <u>including recreation opportunities</u> as well as recreational amenity.</p>

<b>SRMR-10 CONTEXT</b>	- Oppose	Minor edits, points of clarification.	... However, economic activity needs to more effectively account for and manage its impacts on the region's natural resources. <sup>44</sup> Where business and social activity does not account for its impacts on natural resources in the long term, <del>not only is</del> the sustainability of the region's natural resources <del>threatened, but equally the associated long term</del> <u>and</u> economic, social and cultural values are <del>also</del> threatened.
<b>SRMR-10 SNAPSHOT – environmental</b>	Oppose	Minor edits, points of clarification	<p>Economic activities can lead to, for example, biodiversity loss, poor <u>water</u> quality, coastal and marine degradation, and loss of natural features and <u>natural</u> landscapes. These and other matters are considered in further detail elsewhere in this chapter.</p> <p>Negative impacts on the <u>natural environment</u> can also compromise the ecosystems and the services economic activities depend on (ecosystem services), for example loss of <u>wetlands</u> which provide flood attenuation services, loss of biodiversity which provide pest control and pollination services, and loss of soil biodiversity. Economic activity also has the potential to compromise or destroy natural features and <u>natural</u> landscapes. Such impacts are both immediate and cumulative. Cumulative impacts that are not addressed have the potential to lead to tipping points beyond which systems can no longer properly function.</p>
<b>SRMR-10 SNAPSHOT – social</b>	Oppose	Under social heading: Use of the term “social license” is not a good fit in the context of an RMA policy document. What does it mean? On what basis is it justified?	Damage to or loss of natural features and <u>natural</u> landscapes <u>can</u> compromise amenity values. Failure of business to <del>sustainably</del> manage <u>their impact on</u> natural resources <u>can</u> compromise the social licence of a business sector to operate. This <u>can</u> adversely impacts social capital (trust) and can create community division. In extreme cases it can lead to calls for reduced access to resources.
<b>SRMR-11 HEADING</b>	Oppose	Minor edits, points of clarification	<b>SRMR-111 – Cumulative impacts and <u>resilience</u> – the <u>natural</u> environmental costs of our activities in Otago are adding up with tipping points potentially being reached</b>

<b>SRMR-11 – CONTEXT</b>	Oppose	Minor edits, points of clarification	The long term environmental, economic, and social well-being of the Otago region requires anticipating and minimising cumulative environmental impacts before they reach a tipping point, beyond which systems can no longer properly function. This requires <i>resilient</i> frameworks that take account of the dynamic relationship between the <u>natural environment</u> , economy and people while acknowledging that the future is always uncertain, and knowledge is imperfect. Should a tipping point be reached a <i>resilient</i> Otago society will have the ability to absorb, respond to, adapt to, and recover from disruptive events. <sup>45</sup>
<b>SRMR-11 – SNAPSHOT – environmental</b>	Oppose	Minor edits, points of clarification	<p>While many ecosystems have a degree of <i>resilience</i>, increasing pressures on the <u>natural environment</u>, typically as a result of human activities (for example economic development), can have an adverse cumulative <u>effect</u>. ...</p> <p><del>The first and best response is to ensure sustainable management of our natural resources and avoid</del><u>ing</u> immediate and long-term cumulative <del>effects that degrade the onf</del><u>environmental values which are already degraded is required to achieve sustainable management of our natural resources</u>. At the same time a <i>resilience</i> approach is needed that identifies thresholds and sets limits on the use of natural resources_ to avoid permanent and potentially catastrophic changes occurring, as would occur if a tipping point is reached.</p>
<b>SRMR-11 – SNAPSHOT – social and economic</b>	Oppose	Minor edits, points of clarification	The well-being of Otago's people and communities in the long term will be <del>sustained-protected</del> by the enduring ecological health and <i>resilience</i> of the <u>natural environment</u> and by human activity providing for the <u>natural environment</u> in equal or greater measure than is taken from it (in other words, net impact determines net well-being). It will also be <del>sustained-protected</del> through community <i>resilience</i> so that it can adapt and nimbly respond to future challenges.
<b>RMIA–WAI–I3</b>	Oppose	Wayfare wonders if additional reasons for or issues with loss of access relate to “overfishing” and “pollution”..	Consider adding “overfishing” and “pollution” as issues or reasons for loss of access.

<b>RMIA-MKB-I5</b>	Oppose	The Department of Conservation has obligations under the Conservation Act, also Wildlife Act, and the NZ Coastal Policy Statement (not just the Conservation Act).	<p><b>RMIA-MKB-I5 – Inconsistent approaches to biodiversity protection amongst regulatory authorities</b></p> <p>Biodiversity is managed by several entities who have different approaches and powers through their separate governing legislation. For example, regional and district councils have obligations under the Resource Management Act and the Department of Conservation has obligations under the Conservation Act. Different pieces of legislation are not always consistent with each other. There can also be confusion about who is responsible for different aspects of biodiversity management as it is not managed by one entity.</p>
<b>RMIA-CE-I1</b>	Oppose	Wayfare wonders if additional specific issues could be “overfishing” and “pollution”.	Consider adding “overfishing” and “pollution” as specific issues.
<b>RMIA-CE-I2</b>	Oppose	The issue of rubbish occurs in lakes and rivers as well as the coastal environment. This issue is important, and it concerns parties other than iwi. This issue could be repeated elsewhere in the SRMR section.	Consider amending the issue “Proliferation of rubbish in the coastal environment, including materials such as lengths of rope from boats and moorings, plastic packaging strips, discarded and lost fishing gear, glass and plastic bottles as well as other dumped material” to include “in lakes and rivers”, and repeat this issue elsewhere in the document.

## **Appendix B – a copy of the Decision**

**Appendix C – a list of names and addresses of people to be served with a copy of this notice**

<b>Name</b>	<b>Address for service</b>
<b>Environment Court, Christchurch Registry</b>	environmentcourt@justice.govt.nz
<b>Otago Regional Council</b>	rps@orc.govt.nz
<b>Terry Dwayne</b>	info@jetboat.com
<b>Abraham, Ben</b>	abrahambm@gmail.com
<b>Valentine-Robertson, Adair</b>	adairvalrob@gmail.com
<b>Currie, Adam</b>	AdamkmcCurrie@gmail.com
<b>Christchurch International Airport Limited (CIAL)</b>	aime.green@chapmantripp.com
<b>New Zealand Carbon Farming</b>	ainsley@amconsulting.co.nz
<b>Transpower New Zealand Limited</b>	ainsley@amconsulting.co.nz
<b>Oceana Gold (New Zealand) Ltd</b>	alison.paul@oceanagold.com
<b>Baird Alisterbaird</b>	alisterwilliambaird@gmail.com
<b>Lambert, Jeff</b>	alpbuid03@gmail.com
<b>Meridian Energy Limited</b>	andrew.feierabend@meridianenergy.co.nz
<b>Howson, Andrew Richard</b>	andrewrhowson@gmail.com
<b>Rayonier Matariki Forests</b>	andy.fleming@rayonier.com
<b>Central Otago Winegrowers Association</b>	andy@mishasvineyard.com
<b>Matakanui Gold Limited</b>	anita@townplanning.co.nz
<b>Dennison, Ann</b>	ann.dennison@xtra.co.nz
<b>Central Otago District Council</b>	ann.rodgers@codc.govt.nz
<b>Extinction Rebellion Queenstown Lakes</b>	annasimmonds@gmail.com
<b>Hodges, Suzanne</b>	antiguasue@hotmail.com
<b>Field, Anthony</b>	ants.field@gmail.com
<b>Field, Anthony</b>	ants.field@gmail.com
<b>Kern, Don</b>	apteryx05@gmail.com
<b>Barratt, Andy</b>	asbarratt@gmail.com
<b>Sanford Limited</b>	AUndorf-Lay@sanford.co.nz
<b>Warrington, Aaron</b>	azza76@gmail.com
<b>Ducrot, Barbara</b>	barbara.ducrot@gmail.com
<b>Tanner Rebecca</b>	becsskinner@mac.com
<b>Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited</b>	Ben.Williams@chapmantripp.com

<b>Cain whānau</b>	Ben@cuee.nz
<b>Off Road Adventures Limited</b>	ben@cuee.nz
<b>Trojan Holdings</b>	ben@cuee.nz
<b>Wayfare Group Limited</b>	ben@cuee.nz
<b>Fouke Bernard</b>	bfouke@xtra.co.nz
<b>Liddicoat, Stuart</b>	bigstuliddicoat@gmail.com
<b>Gardner, Bill</b>	billrg54@gmail.com
<b>Glenpanel Limited Partnership</b>	blair@vivianespie.co.nz
<b>Sipka Holdings Ltd</b>	blair@vivianespie.co.nz
<b>Tussock Rise Ltd</b>	blair@vivianespie.co.nz
<b>Vergeer, Bligh</b>	bligh.vergeer@gmail.com
<b>Turner Brian</b>	blturner@xtra.co.nz
<b>Graymont (NZ) Limited</b>	bmurray@graymont.com
<b>Joostens, Phillip</b>	boaraxa@yahoo.co.nz
<b>Big Stone Forest Limited</b>	bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz
<b>Otago Water Resource Users Group</b>	bridget.irving@gallawaycookallan.co.nz
<b>Chung, Cadence</b>	cadencebchung@gmail.com
<b>Khoury Camille</b>	camillekhouri@gmail.com
<b>DairyNZ Limited</b>	Carina.ross@dairynz.co.nz
<b>Ravensdown Limited</b>	carmen@planzconsultants.co.nz
<b>Harbour Fish, Southern Fantastic and Fantastic Holdings</b>	chanelgardner@yahoo.com
<b>Lowe, Michael</b>	channel_z@hotmail.com
<b>Thomson, Charlie</b>	charliethomson16@gmail.com
<b>Contact Energy Limited</b>	chris.drayton@contactenergy.co.nz
<b>Sustainable Tarras Incorporated Society</b>	Chris.goddard@blackswannz.com
<b>Pritchard, Christopher</b>	chris@hhq.nz
<b>Chorus, New Zealand Limited, Spark New Zealand Trading Limited and Vodafone New Zealand</b>	chris@incite.co.nz
<b>Kjelgaard, Chris</b>	chriskjelgaard@hotmail.com
<b>Reitze Christine</b>	christine.reitze@gmail.com
<b>Rose, Christine</b>	christine.rose25@gmail.com
<b>Ballantyne Clara</b>	claraballantyne@columbacollege.school.nz
<b>Karimi, Abtin</b>	cleanwalk.ourplanet@gmail.com
<b>Pilcher, Colleen</b>	colleen@earthsong.org.nz
<b>marcjoniak, krystyna</b>	cooper.krystyna@gmail.com
<b>Calder Stewart</b>	Craig.Maaka@calderstewart.co.nz

<b>Greenpeace Aotearoa and 1259 supporters / direct submitters</b>	crose@greenpeace.org
<b>Southern Inshore Fisheries Management Company Limited</b>	cscott@southerninshore.co.nz
<b>Currie, Mike</b>	currance@xtra.co.nz
<b>Miller Zena</b>	cyrilzena@xtra.co.nz
<b>Elliott, Joy</b>	d.elliott@xtra.co.nz
<b>Sycamore, Darryl</b>	Darryl@terramark.co.nz
<b>Thomson Dawn</b>	dawnthomson@xtra.co.nz
<b>Casey-Douglas, Debbie</b>	dcleadlights@outlook.com
<b>Chambers, Lady Deborah</b>	debchambers@bankside.co.nz
<b>Wolken, Deborah</b>	deborahwolken@gmail.com
<b>Davies, Laurie</b>	deloreanx2@gmail.com
<b>Campbell Demelza</b>	demelzaharris@hotmail.com
<b>Daisy Link Garden Centres Limited</b>	Derek.mclachlan@gallawaycookallan.co.nz
<b>Welschof, Dirk</b>	dirk.welschof@gmx.de
<b>Jones, Danelle</b>	dnell.jones@gmail.com
<b>Ballance Agri-Nutrients Ltd</b>	dominic.adams@ballance.co.nz
<b>Suszko Donna</b>	donna.suszko99@gmail.com
<b>Chapman Jon</b>	doubleopards@hotmail.com
<b>Hawkins, David</b>	drhawkins50@gmail.com
<b>Kaufman, Dylan</b>	dylan.kaufman123@gmail.com
<b>Parcell, Edgar</b>	edgarparcell@xtra.co.nz
<b>Fischer, Elaine</b>	efischer@workmail.com
<b>Waitaki Irrigators Collective Limited</b>	ejcsoal@icloud.com
<b>Federated Farmers of New Zealand</b>	elinscott@fedfarm.org.nz
<b>Lakin, Emma</b>	ems.lakin@hotmail.com
<b>Environmental Justice Ōtepoti</b>	environmentaljusticeotepoti@gmail.com
<b>Queenstown Lakes District Council</b>	Erin.auchterlonie@qldc.govt.nz
<b>Paul Estee</b>	esteepaul6@gmail.com
<b>Lopes, Eva</b>	evampopes@gmail.com
<b>Skinner, Evelyn, M</b>	evelynm.skinner1@gmail.com
<b>Skinner_Evelyn_M</b>	evelynm.skinner1@gmail.com
<b>Shaping Our Future</b>	executive@shapingourfuture.org.nz
<b>Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga</b>	fdavies@heritage.org.nz
<b>Duncan, Brent &amp; Kelley</b>	fishybrent@hotmail.co.nz
<b>Micoud Florence</b>	florencemicoud@gmail.com
<b>Foothills Mining Ltd</b>	foothillsmining@gmail.com

<b>Anderson Frances</b>	francesanderson784@gmail.com
<b>Griffin, J Frank T</b>	frank.griffin@otago.ac.nz
<b>Mercury NZ Ltd.</b>	fraser.graafhuis@mercury.co.nz
<b>Hogg, Gary</b>	garyhogg2004@xtra.co.nz
<b>Harriss, Gavin</b>	gavin@paydirt.co.nz
<b>Kerby Georgia</b>	georgiakerby@gmail.com
<b>Gerber, Daniel</b>	gerberasetz@yahoo.com
<b>AgResearch Limited</b>	graeme.mathieson@mitchelldaysh.co.nz
<b>Rural Contractors New Zealand Inc.</b>	graeme.mathieson@mitchelldaysh.co.nz
<b>Central Otago Heritage Trust</b>	grayeshattky@gmail.com
<b>Gregory Nicky</b>	gregorynicky@icloud.com
<b>Adams, GYPSY-JAZZ</b>	gypsy.jazz666@hotmail.com
<b>Thomson Chris</b>	gytommo@xtra.co.nz
<b>price Frances</b>	hadlow@beswickprice.net
<b>Dawood Hana</b>	hana.groot@gmail.com
<b>lentell harry</b>	harrylentell4@gmail.com
<b>Stent Hayley</b>	hayley.stent@outlook.com
<b>James Helen</b>	helenj83@live.com
<b>Melbourne Janet</b>	herbmed@xtra.co.nz
<b>Herlihy, Gavan James</b>	herlihy@xtra.co.nz
<b>Dove Holly</b>	hollydove88@gmail.com
<b>Frazer, Ian</b>	ian.frazer@gmail.com
<b>Carpenter, Ian</b>	iancrpntr@gmail.com
<b>Toitū Te Whenua, Land Information New Zealand</b>	IGunn@LINZ.govt.nz
<b>Scott Ilona</b>	ilonkazofia@gmail.com
<b>Cosy Homes Charitable Trust</b>	info@cosyhomes.org.nz
<b>Fluit Irene</b>	irenefluit@gmail.com
<b>Kroon, Hanneke</b>	jakro@pl.net
<b>Scown, Jan</b>	jan.scown@icloud.com
<b>Atkinson Janet</b>	janack@xtra.co.nz
<b>Black, Jane</b>	jane.black14@gmail.com
<b>Ngāi Tahu Forestry</b>	jane.higgins@ntforestry.co.nz
<b>Wickham, Jane</b>	jane.wickham@icloud.com
<b>Oliver, Jared</b>	jared_m_oliver@hotmail.com
<b>Pereira, Janet</b>	jaynedpereira2@gmail.com
<b>Hartstone Jayne</b>	jaynemadeline@gmail.com
<b>Thorne Jeanette</b>	jcanthorne@gmail.com
<b>Thorne Jeanette</b>	jcanthorne@gmail.com

<b>Fisheries New Zealand, Ministry for Primary Industries</b>	jean.davis@mpi.govt.nz
<b>Olsen Jen</b>	jen.olsen@slingshot.co.nz
<b>Straterra</b>	jeremy@straterra.co.nz
<b>Sullivan, Jillian</b>	jilliansullivan25@gmail.com
<b>Hopkins, Jim</b>	jimhop46@gmail.com
<b>Aurora Energy Limited</b>	angus.robertson@auroraenergy.nz
<b>Marshall, Jonathan</b>	joe8326@gmail.com
<b>Highton, John</b>	John.highton@otago.ac.nz
<b>Upper Clutha Angling Club</b>	johnbinney@iinet.net.au
<b>Dickson John</b>	johncrawforddickson@gmail.com
<b>Williams John</b>	johngwill43@gmail.com
<b>Ronald, David</b>	jronald86@outlook.com
<b>Stevenson, Judy</b>	judystevenson@xtra.co.nz
<b>WAI Wanaka</b>	julie@waiwanaka.nz
<b>Swainson, Karen</b>	karen_knighton@hotmail.com
<b>Lawrie, Karla</b>	karla.lawrie@gmail.com
<b>Ministry of Education</b>	Kate.Graham@beca.com
<b>Alluvium Ltd and Stoney Creek Mining Ltd</b>	kate.mckenzie@tpsl.co.nz
<b>Danny Walker, Peter Hall, Cold Gold Clutha Ltd and Awa Koura Mining Ltd</b>	kate.mckenzie@tpsl.co.nz
<b>Goodman Kate</b>	kateegoodman@gmail.com
<b>Otago Rock Lobster Industry Association Inc and Pauamac 5 Incorporated</b>	katekheeson@gmail.com
<b>Blackthorn Lodge Glenorchy Limited</b>	katharine.hockly@laneneave.co.nz
<b>Flanagan, Katherine</b>	katherine.m.flanagan@gmail.com
<b>Waite Katrine</b>	katywaite51@gmail.com
<b>Boland Kayla</b>	kayla.boland87@gmail.com
<b>Sharpe, Kelly Ann</b>	kellygynz@hotmail.com
<b>Baker,, Kelsey</b>	kelsey_baker@hotmail.com
<b>University of Otago</b>	kevin.wood@otago.ac.nz
<b>Girling,Kit</b>	Kit.girling@gmail.com
<b>McGregor, Kitt</b>	kittmcgregor@gmail.com
<b>Rose, Julie</b>	kiwimusume@gmail.com
<b>Achari, Komal</b>	komal_achari@hotmail.com
<b>Ellis Kylie</b>	kyeellis1@gmail.com
<b>Matheson Maire</b>	lachlan.maire@gmail.com
<b>Jarvis, Stephen</b>	last1jarvis@gmail.com

<b>Maryhill Limited</b>	<a href="mailto:laura.mclaughlan@al.nz">laura.mclaughlan@al.nz</a>
<b>Mt Cardrona Station</b>	<a href="mailto:laura.mclaughlan@al.nz">laura.mclaughlan@al.nz</a>
<b>LAC Properties Trustees Limited</b>	<a href="mailto:laura.mclaughlan@al.nz">laura.mclaughlan@al.nz</a>
<b>Lane Hocking</b>	<a href="mailto:laura.mclaughlan@al.nz">laura.mclaughlan@al.nz</a>
<b>Universal Developments Hawea Limited</b>	<a href="mailto:laura.mclaughlan@al.nz">laura.mclaughlan@al.nz</a>
<b>Universal Developments Hawea Limited and Lane Hocking</b>	<a href="mailto:laura.mclaughlan@al.nz">laura.mclaughlan@al.nz</a>
<b>Horticulture New Zealand</b>	<a href="mailto:amelia.scharting@holmmajurey.nz">amelia.scharting@holmmajurey.nz</a>
<b>Horticulture New Zealand</b>	<a href="mailto:nicola.buxeda@holmmajurey.nz">nicola.buxeda@holmmajurey.nz</a>
<b>Horticulture New Zealand</b>	<a href="mailto:louise.ford@holmmajurey.nz">louise.ford@holmmajurey.nz</a>
<b>Anderson, Lesley</b>	<a href="mailto:lesleyma2016@gmail.com">lesleyma2016@gmail.com</a>
<b>Liddell, Elizabeth</b>	<a href="mailto:lidmail@xtra.co.nz">lidmail@xtra.co.nz</a>
<b>Dowsett Lila</b>	<a href="mailto:lila.dowsett@gmail.com">lila.dowsett@gmail.com</a>
<b>Beef + Lamb New Zealand Ltd</b>	<a href="mailto:may.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nz">may.ponsonby@beeflambnz.co.nz</a>
<b>Buxton, Linda</b>	<a href="mailto:linda.buxton24@gmail.com">linda.buxton24@gmail.com</a>
<b>Hoskin, Linda</b>	<a href="mailto:linda.hoskin@windowslive.com">linda.hoskin@windowslive.com</a>
<b>Deer Industry New Zealand</b>	<a href="mailto:Lindsay.Fung@deernz.org">Lindsay.Fung@deernz.org</a>
<b>Marshall, Lis</b>	<a href="mailto:lis.marshall@icloud.com">lis.marshall@icloud.com</a>
<b>Scurrah Lisa</b>	<a href="mailto:lisa.scurrah@gmail.com">lisa.scurrah@gmail.com</a>
<b>Fire and Emergency New Zealand – Te Kei Region (Otago/Southland)</b>	<a href="mailto:liz.metsers@fireandemergency.nz">liz.metsers@fireandemergency.nz</a>
<b>Palmer, Liz</b>	<a href="mailto:lizetapalmer@gmail.com">lizetapalmer@gmail.com</a>
<b>van Heugten, Melle</b>	<a href="mailto:lizzy.vanh@gmail.com">lizzy.vanh@gmail.com</a>
<b>Jarvis, Linda</b>	<a href="mailto:lj Jarvis.qt@gmail.com">lj Jarvis.qt@gmail.com</a>
<b>McCall, Lloyd</b>	<a href="mailto:lloyd@m90fs.co.nz">lloyd@m90fs.co.nz</a>
<b>Pomahaka Water Care Group</b>	<a href="mailto:lloyd@m90fs.co.nz">lloyd@m90fs.co.nz</a>
<b>Lawrence, Louise</b>	<a href="mailto:loulaw22@gmail.com">loulaw22@gmail.com</a>
<b>Reeves Saleema</b>	<a href="mailto:ma.saleema@xtra.co.nz">ma.saleema@xtra.co.nz</a>
<b>Minister for the Environment</b>	<a href="mailto:Macaela.flanagan@mfe.govt.nz">Macaela.flanagan@mfe.govt.nz</a>
<b>Cuthers, Maggie</b>	<a href="mailto:maggiecuthers@gmail.com">maggiecuthers@gmail.com</a>
<b>Gollan Malcolm</b>	<a href="mailto:malcolmgollan@gmail.com">malcolmgollan@gmail.com</a>
<b>Waitaki Whitestone Geopark Trust</b>	<a href="mailto:manager@whitestonegeopark.nz">manager@whitestonegeopark.nz</a>
<b>Sinclair Manu</b>	<a href="mailto:manu.sinclair@xtra.co.nz">manu.sinclair@xtra.co.nz</a>
<b>Darby Asset Management LP; Henley Downs Farm Holdings Ltd; Willow Pond Farm Ltd; Glendhu Bay Trustees Ltd,; Glencoe Land Development Company Ltd;</b>	<a href="mailto:maree.baker-galloway@al.nz">maree.baker-galloway@al.nz</a>

<b>Mt Christina Ltd;</b> <b>Jacks Point Land Ltd;</b> <b>Jacks Point Village Holdings No 2 Ltd;</b> <b>Lowburn Land Holdings LP;</b> <b>Blackmans Creek Holdings Limited</b>	
<b>Waihōpai Rūnaka, Te Rūnanga Ōraka</b> <b>Aparima, Te Rūnanga o Awarua</b>	maria.bartlett@tami.maori.nz
<b>Davi Marianna</b>	marianna.davi@hotmail.com
<b>Henderson Marie-Claire</b>	marieclaire.henderson@gmail.com
<b>Horwell Marion</b>	marionhorwell@gmail.com
<b>Z Energy Limited, BP Oil NZ Limited,</b> <b>Mobil Oil NZ Limited</b>	gavin.mccullagh@slrconsulting.com
<b>Z Energy Limited, BP Oil NZ Limited,</b> <b>Mobil Oil NZ Limited</b>	miles.rowe@slrconsulting.com
<b>Ara Poutama Aotearoa the</b> <b>Department of Corrections</b>	maurice.dale@boffamiskell.co.nz
<b>Carter-Smith, Maximillian</b>	max@cartersmith.co.nz
<b>Leusink, Maxim,</b>	maxim_leusink@hotmail.com
<b>Baird, Matthew</b>	mbairdnz@gmail.com
<b>Director-General of Conservation</b>	mbrass@doc.govt.nz
<b>Frew, Sharon</b>	mccomb.frew@xtra.co.nz
<b>McDonald, Mark</b>	mcdonaldmac@ctra.co.nz
<b>Network Waitaki Limited (“NWL”)</b>	megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nz
<b>PowerNet Limited</b>	megan.justice@mitchelldaysh.co.nz
<b>Queenstown Airport Corporation Ltd</b>	melissa.brook@queenstownairport.co.nz
<b>Remy, Melanie</b>	melotago@gmail.com
<b>Tait Merren</b>	merrentait@gmail.com
<b>Wapstra, Miem</b>	miemkrieger@gmail.com
<b>Business South Inc</b>	mike.collins@business-south.org.nz
<b>Keir, Mike</b>	mike@jfk.nz
<b>Keller Christine</b>	mindmade@hotmail.com
<b>Kramer, Mark J</b>	mjkramer@xtra.co.nz
<b>Schlup Martin</b>	mkschlup@xtra.co.nz
<b>Marquand, Marion</b>	mmarquand@hotmail.com
<b>Hattrill, Richard</b>	mmscreening@bigpond.com
<b>Monckton Brian</b>	monckton.brian@gmail.com
<b>Morgan, Andrea</b>	morgie@orcon.net.nz
<b>Evans, Meg</b>	mp3evans@outlook.com

<b>Angus, Alistair; Singleton, Robert; Bryant, Neville; Rivett, Ruth; Mckenzie, David and Fiona; Britton, Tania; Burrel, Marie; Young, Keri; Tayler, Kate; Afleck, Vern</b>	<b>Mrangus57@gmail.com</b>
<b>Lamb Toria</b>	<b>mstorialamb@gmail.com</b>
<b>Vergeer, Marius</b>	<b>mvergeerforestry@farmside.co.nz</b>
<b>Bean Misty</b>	<b>mystie1@hotmail.com</b>
<b>James, Neil</b>	<b>neiljames.otago@gmail.com</b>
<b>Mokihinui Gold Ltd</b>	<b>nevisnugget@gmail.com</b>
<b>Aotearoa Water Action (AWA)</b>	<b>ngladding@hotmail.com</b>
<b>Dawson, Nick</b>	<b>nickqueer@hotmail.com</b>
<b>Manawa Energy (formerly Trustpower Limited)</b>	<b>nicola.foran@manawaenergy.co.nz</b>
<b>Strath Clyde Water Ltd, McArthur Ridge Investment Group Ltd, and Mount Dunstan Estates Ltd</b>	<b>norman.elder@awslegal.co.nz</b>
<b>Central South Island Fish and Game Council</b>	<b>nparagreen@fishandgame.org.nz</b>
<b>Otago Fish and Game Council</b>	<b>nparagreen@fishandgame.org.nz</b>
<b>The Otago Fish and Game Council and the Central South Island Fish and Game Council</b>	<b>nparagreen@fishandgame.org.nz</b>
<b>Lauder Creek Farming</b>	<b>office@laudercreek.co.nz</b>
<b>Moutere Station</b>	<b>office@mouterestation.co.nz</b>
<b>Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society NZ</b>	<b>P.Anderson@forestandbird.org.nz</b>
<b>Stokes Patrick</b>	<b>pat.stokes@hotmail.co.uk</b>
<b>Shannon Patrick</b>	<b>patdinashannon@gmail.com</b>
<b>Hannah, Patricia</b>	<b>patriciaahannah@gmail.com</b>
<b>Canterbury Regional Council (Environment Canterbury)</b>	<b>paul.thompson@ecan.govt.nz</b>
<b>O'Connor, Denis</b>	<b>paulo_66@outlook.co.nz</b>
<b>Smith Paul</b>	<b>paulsorrelsmith@gmail.com</b>
<b>Crawford Phillipa</b>	<b>pccrawford14@hotmail.com</b>
<b>NZ Pork</b>	<b>penny.cairns@pork.co.nz</b>

<b>Hudson, Peta</b>	peta@unifone.net.nz
<b>Joyce, Peta</b>	petajoyce9@gmail.com
<b>Reid Pete</b>	petelisareid@xtra.co.nz
<b>City Forests Limited</b>	peter.oliver@cityforests.co.nz
<b>Ernslaw One Ltd</b>	Peter.Weir@Ernslaw.co.nz
<b>mcclintock Lorraine</b>	peterfrancis@orcon.net.nz
<b>Greaves, Paul George</b>	pgreaves@xtra.co.nz
<b>Stewart, Lynne</b>	phil.lynne2@xtra.co.nz
<b>Dunedin International Airport Limited</b>	Phil.page@gallawaycookallan.co.nz
<b>Central Otago Environmental Society</b>	philh.murray@xtra.co.nz
<b>Jamieson, Philippa</b>	philippa@earthlight.co.nz
<b>Mcentee Phill</b>	phillmcentee@gmail.com
<b>Mcentee, Phill</b>	phillmcentee@gmail.com
<b>Kok, Robert Matthew</b>	R.BKok@xtra.co.nz
<b>Boxer Hills Trust</b>	rachel@brownandcompany.co.nz
<b>Waterfall Park Developments Limited</b>	rachel@brownandcompany.co.nz
<b>Broad Susan, Broad Donald</b>	raggyann6@gmail.com
<b>BALD MARTIN</b>	rainbowfarmnz@hotmail.com
<b>Baillie, Ra</b>	ranui@hotmail.com
<b>PONCE, Raphaël</b>	raphael.ponce77@gmail.com
<b>Camp, Susan</b>	reidosuzie@icloud.com
<b>Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency</b>	richard.shaw@nzta.govt.nz
<b>Horn, Rosie</b>	rihorn@photogirl.co.nz
<b>Rita Przybilski</b>	rita.przybilski@otago.ac.nz
<b>Port Otago Ltd</b>	joanne.dowd@portotago.co.nz
<b>New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihangā</b>	robert.addison@tewaihangā.govt.nz
<b>McArthur Ridge Vineyard Ltd</b>	robin@nimbusgroup.co.nz
<b>Rust, Rod</b>	rodrust@xtra.co.nz
<b>Rowe, Raewyn</b>	rowe.clan@gmail.com
<b>Rubensdoerffer, Birgit</b>	rubensd@web.de
<b>Stephens, Sam</b>	sam@prospectsolutions.co.nz
<b>Mcmillan, Samantha</b>	samantha.mcmillan@hotmail.com
<b>Te Rūnanga o Moeraki, Kāti Huirapa Rūnaka ki Puketeraki, Te Rūnanga o Ōtākou, Hokonui Rūnanga</b>	sandra@aukaha.co.nz
<b>Infinity Investment Group Holdings Limited</b>	sarah.eveleigh@al.nz
<b>New Zealand Cherry Corp Limited</b>	sarah.eveleigh@al.nz
<b>Dunedin City Council</b>	sarah.hickey@dcc.govt.nz

<b>Gregor, Sarita</b>	sarita.macgregor@gmail.com
<b>Schenk, Saskia</b>	saskia@vandergeest.co.nz
<b>New Zealand Defence Force</b>	sbevin@tonkintaylor.co.nz
<b>Yellow-eyed Penguin Trust</b>	science-advisor@yeptrust.org.nz
<b>Campbell, Alistair</b>	scoota.akc@googlemail.com
<b>Wise Response Society Inc</b>	secretary@wiseresponse.org.nz
<b>Clements Fiona</b>	senorita.awesumo@gmail.com
<b>Salis, Sergio</b>	sergio.salis@gmail.com
<b>Sandhu, Shammi</b>	shammi@xtra.co.nz
<b>O'Neill, Shaun</b>	shaun.oneill@talktalk.net
<b>Environmental Defence Society</b>	shay@eds.org.nz
<b>[REDACTED]</b>	<b>[REDACTED]</b>
<b>Van Eyndhoven Sarah</b>	sjv44@uclive.ac.nz
<b>Tengvar, Frida</b>	skogsdis@hotmail.com
<b>Sole, Matthew</b>	solem@xtra.co.nz
<b>Porteous, Sonya</b>	songreenstone@gmail.com
<b>Meldrum Sophia</b>	sophiameldrum@gmail.com
<b>Mccutcheon Michael</b>	starboy31068@yahoo.com.au
<b>Gillis Stasha</b>	stasa@autistici.org
<b>Stebbins Brenda</b>	stebbins.brenda@gmail.com
<b>Rolfe Steffan</b>	steffan.rolfe@xtra.co.nz
<b>Silver Fern Farms</b>	steve.tuck@mitchelldaysh.co.nz
<b>Stop Central Otago Airport</b>	stopcentralotagoairport@gmail.com
<b>Taylor Storm</b>	stormytaylor@hotmail.com
<b>Mccafferty, Sue</b>	suemccafferty@xtra.co.nz
<b>Turner, Sukhinder</b>	sukhiturner@xtra.co.nz
<b>Marks, Marj</b>	sunnyjak@hotmail.com
<b>Manuherekia Catchment Group (Incorporated Society)</b>	susie@mckconsultancy.co.nz
<b>Sutherland Andrew</b>	suthinch@xtra.co.nz
<b>McDonald, Tania</b>	tania@mcdonald.kiwi.nz
<b>Larson, Tanya</b>	tanya.renew@mail.com
<b>Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu</b>	Tanya.Stevens@ngaitahu.iwi.nz
<b>Hendry, Tania</b>	tanzandmj@hotmail.com
<b>Moore, Melissa</b>	tearapuna@gmail.com
<b>Fulton Hogan Limited</b>	tensor@tonkintaylor.co.nz
<b>Bain, Bronwyn</b>	thebainfamily@xtra.co.nz
<b>Bain, Bronwyn</b>	thebainfamily@xtra.co.nz
<b>Prebble, Thomas</b>	thomasprebble@hotmail.com

<b>Sharpe, Toby William Montague</b>	tobysharpe@mac.com
<b>Todi, Emese Erika</b>	todierika@yahoo.com
<b>Beveridge Thomas</b>	tombev2009@hotmail.com
<b>Flux, Tracey</b>	tracey.flux@gmail.com
<b>Sewhoy, Tony</b>	tsewhoy@gmail.com
<b>Wilson, Terry</b>	tw@slingshot.co.nz
<b>Hippolite, Tyler</b>	tyler.hippolite@gmail.com
<b>Quartly Victoria</b>	victoriaquartly@gmail.com
<b>Waitaki District Council</b>	vvanderspek@waitaki.govt.nz
<b>Coonrod Michael</b>	wanakawoodenboats@gmail.com
<b>Otago Regional Council</b>	warren.hanley@orc.govt.nz
<b>Waymouth Mary</b>	waymouthmhl@gmail.com
<b>Aggregate and Quarry Association</b>	wayne@aqa.org.nz
<b>van der Zwet, David</b>	wayne@aqa.org.nz
<b>Simmons, Wilf</b>	wds555@outlook.com
<b>Bradley, Sue</b>	windsurfsue@hotmail.com
<b>Shimshon Yael</b>	yaels211@gmail.com
<b>Charnin Zoe</b>	zcharnin@gmail.com
<b>Port Blakely NZ Ltd</b>	zrobinson@portblakely.com